Pathophysiology of Synapse Function in Sanfilippo Syndrome

Luigi Bruno

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology, Faculty of Medicine

McGill University

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

Submitted December 2014

Under the supervision of Dr. Alexey Pshezhetsky

©Copyright Luigi Bruno 2014 All rights reserved.

DEDICATION

This document is dedicated to McGill University, my supervisor, my friends and family,

as well as to my laboratory.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants from JLK Sanfilippo Research Foundation and Jonah's Just Begun Foundation. I would like to thank my family and friends for supporting me through the past two years. I would like to thank my boyfriend Alejandro for his constant love and support. I would also like to thank my supervisor Dr. Alexey Pshezhetsky for his excellent guidance and expertise, my co-supervisor Dr. Carlos Morales for his advice and guidance, Dr Graziella Di Cristo for training me to use the confocal microscope as well as her expertise in neuroscience, Dr. Chanshuai Han for her aid in the preparing and analysis of the hippocampal neurons, and Dr. Peter Scott McPherson for allowing me to use his facilities and equipment as well as his expertise in neuroscience and cell biology. I would like to thank Dr. Dieter Reinhardt for being a helpful mentor and Dr. John Presley for being an integral committee member. Finally, I would like to give a big thank you to my colleagues in my laboratory, who took me under their wings as a new graduate student.

PREFACE AND CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

Dr. Chanshuai Han and Dr. Peter McPherson from the Montreal Neurological Institute collaborated with me on the production, staining, and imaging of neuronal cultures from the several mouse models used. Dr. Graziella Di Cristo from the Ste-Justine Hosptial research center collaborated with me on the confocal imaging of GFP-expressing hippocampal neurons from the mouse models. The previous experimentation performed on the mouse model was completed by the laboratory of Dr. Alexey Pshezhetsky. All of the other experimentation was performed and completed by myself, after being trained by members of the laboratory, Dr. Larbi Dridi and Dr. Carla Martins.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| DEDICATION | ii |
|---|--------------|
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | iii |
| PREFACE AND CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS | iv |
| TABLE OF CONTENTS | V |
| LIST OF TABLES | |
| LIST OF FIGURES | viii |
| ABSTRACT | |
| ABRÉGÉ | |
| ABBREVIATIONS | |
| Chapter 1 Introduction and Literature Review | 1 |
| 1.1 Lysosomes | |
| 1.2.1 Lysosomal Storage Disorders | |
| 1.2.2 Classification and Incidence of Lysosomal Storage Disorders | |
| 1.2.3 Tay-Sachs Disease | |
| 1.3 Mucopolysaccharidoses | |
| 1.4.1 Mucopolysaccharidosis Type IIIC | |
| 1.4.2 Mutations in MPS IIIC | |
| 1.4.3 Mouse model of MPS IIIC | |
| 1.5.1 Synapses and Synaptic Vesicles | |
| 1.5.2 Synaptic Vesicle Biogenesis and Recycling | |
| 1.5.3 Synaptic Spines | |
| 1.5.4 Microglia and Synapses | |
| 1.5.5 Synaptic Defects in LSDs | |
| 1.6 Hypothesis and Objectives | |
| | .20 |
| Chapter 2 Materials and Methods | 22 |
| 2.1 Laboratory Animals | |
| 2.2 Genotyping | |
| 2.3 Immunohistochemistry | |
| 2.4 Hippocampal Cultures | |
| 2.5 Immunofluorescence | |
| 2.6 ELISA | |
| | |
| 2.7 Western Blots | .20 |
| Chapter 3 Results | 30 |
| 3.1 Thy1-EGFP/MPSIIIC Mouse Shows a Reduction in the Number of Synaptic Spir | |
| Hippocampal Neurons | |
| 3.2 Synaptic Vesicle Marker Proteins VAMP2 and Synaptophysin Show Reduction i | |
| | |
| Brains | |
| 3.3 Hippocampal MPSIIIC Neurons Maintain in Culture Pathological Alterations Sim Detected in the Mouse | liar to mose |
| | 20 |
| Brain | |
| 3.4 Synaptic Vesicle Levels are Reduced in MPSIIIC KO | 20 |
| Hippocampal Neuron Cultures | |
| 3.5 Alterations in Post-Synaptic Structure in MPSIIIC KO Hippocampal Neuron Culture | ure41 |

| 3.6 No Alterations to the Trans-Golgi Network are Detected in Cultured Hippocampal N MPS IIIC Mice whereas Accumulations of Early Endosomes are Detected along the | leurons from |
|---|--------------|
| Dendrites | 43 |
| 3.7 Microglia and Secreted TNF- $lpha$ do not Affect Neurons in Culture | 46 |
| 3.8 Synaptic Spine defects in Hippocampal Neurons of Tay-Sachs | |
| mice | .48 |
| | |
| Chapther 4 Discussion | .51 |
| Conclusions | |
| | |
| Chapter 5 References | .63 |

)

LIST OF TABLES

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1 Catabolic pathway for degradation of heparan sulfate11 |
|---|
| Figure 2 Synaptic Spines on Hippocampal Neurons of Thy1-EFP WT and MPSIIIC KO mice |
| Figure 3 Immunohistochemical analysis suggests reduction of synaptic vesicle proteins in hippocampal neurons of MPS IIIC mice |
| Figure 4 Lysosomal storage of heparan sulfate in cultured hippocampal neurons from MPSIIIC mice |
| Figure 5 Reduced levels of pre-synaptic markers synapsin and synaptophysin in cultured hippocampal neurons from MPSIIIC mice. |
| |
| Figure 6 Altered post-synaptic Structure in MPS IIIC hippocampal neurons42 |
| Figure 7 Immunofluorescence analysis suggests no alterations of Trans-Golgi network but reveals accumulation of early endosomes in MPSIIIC hippocampal |
| neurons |
| Figure 8 TNF- α Concentrations are similar in WT and MPSIIIC KO cell culture medium |
| Figure 9 Synaptic Spines are decreased on Hippocampal Neurons of Thy1-EGFP / HEXA KO mice49 |

ABSTRACT

Mucopolysaccharidosis III Type C (MPS IIIC), or Sanfillipo syndrome type C, is an inherited paediatric disease that is manifested through rapid mental and cognitive defects, as well as sleep disorders, hearing loss and ultimately dementia and early death. The disease is caused by impairment of lysosomal catabolism of the glycosaminoglycan, heparan sulfate (HS) due to mutations in the Hasnat gene encoding for heparan sulfate acetyl-CoA: α-glucosamine N-acetyltransferase (HGSNAT) involved in the acetylation of a terminal glucosamine residue of HS, which is required for the subsequent hydrolysis of the remaining chain. In order to study pathophysiology of MPS IIIC, a mouse model of the disease was developed by introducing a β-geo cassette into intron 7 of the mouse Hgsnat gene, rendering the gene inactive. Biochemically, these mice show glucosaminoglycan and ganglioside accumulation in the brain beginning at birth, and significant neuronal loss by 10 months of age. The mice show hyperactivity starting at the age of 6 months, and cognitive memory defects at 10 months. The cause of the major clinical manifestation of the disease, rapid mental decline, is not well understood. Our hypothesis is that the cognitive dysfunction and other manifestations occurring in the MPS IIIC patients and mice before the age when significant neuronal loss is detected are caused by a decrease in neurotransmission due to synaptic defects in cortical and hippocampal neurons. In order to test this hypothesis, synaptogenesis, synaptic spine density and morphology were analyzed at different age in the CA1 region

of the hippocampus of MPS IIIC mouse model that expresses green fluorescent proteins in hippocampal neurons. We found that in the MPS IIIC mice the spine density and maturity were decreased already at the age of 20 days and further declined with age. Similar results were found in the hippocampal neurons of a mouse model of another lysosomal disorder, Tay-Sachs disease indicating that synaptic defects are caused by lysosomal storage in general. The formation and trafficking of synaptic vesicles in the neurons was further analyzed by immunohistochemistry using antibodies against several pre- and post-synaptic markers involved in docking and fusion of synaptic vesicles both in vivo (in brain sections) and in vitro (in E16 cultured hippocampal neurons). The levels of both synapsin and synaptophysin were decreased in cultured neurons from MPS IIIC mice compared to those from wild type mice, as well as the levels of the pre-synaptic proteins VAMP2 and synaptophysin in brain sections. These results suggest the presence of synaptic defects on both hippocampal and cortical neurons, which could lead to the cognitive deficiencies exhibited in patients with the disorder.

Key words: lysosomes, Mucopolysaccharidosis Type IIIC, Sanfilippo syndrome, neurodegeneration, cognitive defects, hippocampal neurons, synapses, synaptic spines, Tay-Sachs disease

ABRÉGÉ

La mucopolysaccharidose de type IIIC (MPS IIIC), aussi appelée syndrome de Sanfilippo, est une maladie héréditaire et infantile qui se traduit par un rapide retard mental et un déclin cognitif aboutissant au décès avant l'âge adulte. Cette maladie est causée par des mutations dans le gène Hgsnat induisant une modification du catabolisme lysosomal des héparines sulfates. Nous avons généré des souris transgéniques déficientes pour le gène codant Hgsnat. Ces souris présentent une accumulation d'héparine sulfate dans les neurones, une perte neuronale importante à l'âge de 10 mois et une diminution de la mémoire cognitive à 10 mois. L'hypothèse est que la dysfonction cognitive observée chez les patients et le modèle animal de la maladie MPS IIIC est causée par une diminution de la neurotransmission via un défaut synaptique dans les neurones d'hippocampe. Nous avons généré une souris MPS IIIC qui exprime la protéine fluorescente GFP dans les neurones d'hippocampe et analysé la densité et morphologie des épines dendritiques au niveau de la région CA1. Les résultats montrent que les souris MPS IIIC présentent une diminution du nombre d'épines dendritiques et une morphologie moins mature, à partir du 20ème jour postnatal. Des résultats similaires ont été trouvés dans les neurones de l'hippocampe d'une souris modèle de Tay-Sachs. Nous avons ensuite analysé la formation et le trafic des vésicules synaptiques dans les neurones par immunohistochimie sur des coupes sagittales de cerveau ainsi que dans des cultures de neurones d'hippocampe. Les

résultats montrent que l'expression de la synapsine et la synaptophysine, deux marqueurs synaptiques impliqués dans l'ancrage et la fusion des vésicules présynaptiques, est diminuée dans les neurones en culture issus des souris MPS IIIC. Une diminution de l'expression de la synaptophysine et VAMP2 est aussi observée sur les coupes de cerveau adulte. L'ensemble de ces résultats indique une déficience synaptique dans les neurones d'hippocampe, qui pourrait conduire aux déficiences cognitives observées chez les patients atteints de MPS IIIC.

Mots-Clés: lysosomes, mucopolysaccharidose de type IIIC, le syndrome de Sanfilippo, la neurodégénérescence, défauts cognitifs, les neurones de l'hippocampe, les synapses, épines synaptiques, maladie de Tay-Sachs

ABBREVIATIONS

| CNS | Central Nervous System | | |
|---------|---|--|--|
| ER | Endoplasmic Reticulum | | |
| GAG | Glucosaminoglycan | | |
| EGFP | Enhanced Green Fluorescent Protein | | |
| HGSNAT | Heparan sulfate alpha-glucosaminide N-acetyltransferase | | |
| КО | Knockout | | |
| LAMP | Lysosomal Associated Membrane Protein | | |
| LSD | Lysosomal Storage disorder | | |
| MPS | Mucopolysaccharidosis | | |
| MPSIIC | Mucopolysaccharidosis Type IIIC | | |
| SV | Synaptic vesicle | | |
| TGN | Trans-Golgi network | | |
| t-SNARE | Target-Soluble NSF Attachment Protein Receptor | | |
| VAMP1 | Vesicle Associated Membrane Protein 1 | | |
| v-SNARE | Vesicle-Soluble NSF Attachment Protein Receptor | | |
| WT | Wild Type | | |

Chapter 1

Introduction and Literature Review

1.1 Lysosomes

Lysosomes are membrane-bound organelles located in the cytoplasm of cells. They contain over 100 hydrolytic enzymes that are used in the catabolism of several substrates such as proteins, lipids, nucleic acids, and non-functional or damaged organelles. These enzymes include phosphatases, sulfatases, proteases, nucleases and lipases among others. The enzymes all function at the acidic pH 5.0, the pH inside the lysosome.

Materials to be degraded in the lysosome are transported there via several mechanisms. One involves the endocytic pathway, in which material from outside the cell is taken into early endosomes. A selection process occurs further where the material to be utilized by the cell is brought back to the plasma membrane via recycling endosomes, and the substrate to be degraded is left to become cargo for the late endosomes. Upon acidification of their lumen these late endosomes fuse with other late endosomes and lysosomes containing acid hydrolases to form multivesicular bodies, which further mature to lysosomes (Saftig and Klumperman 2009). Another mechanism of lysosomal catabolism is autophagy. When organelles such as the mitochondria are defective or in otherwise need of degradation, the organelle is enclosed in a membrane which initially comes from the endoplasmic reticulum creating an autophagosome. This autophagosome then fuses with vesicles carrying lysosomal hydrolases and together they become a mature lysosome, where the defective organelle gets degraded.

The transport of lysosomal hydrolases and other lysosomal proteins to the lysosomes can either be direct, from the trans-Golgi network to the lysosome, or indirect, involving transport of the proteins to the plasma membrane followed by endocytosis (Bonifacino and Traub 2003, Saftig and Klumperman 2009).

1.2.1 Lysosomal Storage Diseases

Lysosomal storage diseases (LSDs) are a group of inherited metabolic disorders involving the lysosome, initially discovered by H.G Hers, who described that an undegraded substrate present in Pompe disease accumulates in the lysosomes (Hers 1972). Most LSDs result from deficiencies of acidic hydrolases (Winchester 2004) and a considerable number are caused by defects in lysosomal membrane transporters or non-enzymatic soluble lysosomal activator proteins (Saftig and Klumperman 2009). In addition, LSD Mucolipidosis II/III (I-cell disease) is caused by multiple deficiencies of soluble lysosomal hydrolases due to the defect in the targeting to the lysosome. The undegraded substrates then accumulate in the lysosome leading to adverse cell response and eventually death.

The storage of the undegraded substrate generally does not occur in all cells, but rather in the specific tissues where the substrate is plentiful (Winchester, Vellodi et al. 2000). For example, since glycosphingolipids are abundant in the brain, LSDs that affect the lysosomal degradation of gangliosides (GM1-gangliosidosis, Tay-Sachs and

3

Sandhoff diseases, Niemann-Pick Type A and B) cause an accumulation of undegraded glycosphingolipids in neurons, resulting in their subsequent death (Kacher and Futerman 2006). The mechanism by which the storage of these undegraded substrates leads to cell death in the affected tissue is not completely understood. Recently, several studies elucidated mechanisms that may be common for several lysosomal storage diseases. Firstly, LSD patient fibroblasts were analyzed for their mRNA profiles, and a decrease in the expression of the ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase was discovered in 8 different LSDs. This enzyme is essential for protein degradation pathways in the lysosome and its down-regulation could lead to cell death (Bifsha, Landry et al. 2007). Also, a block of autophagy has been shown to be a crucial component in the pathogenesis of all LSDs (Settembre, Fraldi et al. 2008). Considering that autophagy is one of the main mechanisms by which substrates reach the lysosome, accumulation of undegraded substrates in the lysosome leading to defective fusion between autophagosomes and lysosomes would block the autophagocytic pathway. Because of this block, dysfunctional mitochondria accumulate in the cell, leading to cell death (Settembre, Fraldi et al. 2008).

1.2.2 Classification and incidence of Lysosomal Storage Diseases

The incidences of LSDs vary from about 1:57,000 to 1:4,000,000 live births (Meikle, Hopwood et al. 1999), and 1:5,000-1:10,000 as a group (Staretz-Chacham,

4

Lang et al. 2009). More than 50 LSDs are known to exist and some are frequent for particular populations. For instance, Tay Sachs disease, which is caused by mutations in the human *HEXA* gene and leads to rapid degeneration of nerve cells and death by age 4, is prominent among those of Ashkenazi Jewish nationality and French Canadians from the lower St-Laurence region (Myerowitz and Costigan 1988, De Braekeleer, Hechtman et al. 1992). Inheritance for LSDs is generally autosomal recessive but several diseases such as Fabry or Hunter diseases are X-linked (Pinto, Vieira et al. 2010). Clinical symptoms and characteristics considerably vary between LSDs, however common symptoms include hepatomegaly (enlargement of the liver), skeletal and muscular deformations, and neurodegeneration. About 20-30% of enzyme residual activity can often be enough to perform normal catabolism of substrates, therefore heterozygotes for LSDs are generally unaffected by clinical symptoms (van de Kamp, Niermeijer et al. 1981). Clinical symptoms generally occur when the residual enzyme activity becomes less than 15%. Severe mutations such as frame-shift and nonsense mutations of lysosomal enzymes causing a complete absence of residual activity normally tend to lead to more severe clinical phenotypes.

LSDs are grouped into several major classes based on biochemical properties of accumulated substrates and manifestations of the diseases (TABLE 1).

Several treatments for lysosomal storage diseases, such as hematopoietic cell (bone marrow) transplantation (Peters and Steward 2003), enzyme replacement

5

therapy, and gene correction have been shown to be relatively successful in alleviating some of the symptoms (Grabowski and Hopkin 2003), however no cure currently exists.

| Disease | Defective Enzyme | Undegraded Substrate |
|---|--|--|
| 1. Mucopolysaccharidoses | | |
| MPS I (Hurler's syndrome) | α-L-iduronidase | heparan/dermatan sulphate |
| MPS II (Hunter's syndrome) | iduronate-sulfatase | heparan sulphate |
| MPS III-A (Sanfillipo A) | heparan N-sulfamidase | heparan sulphate |
| MPS III-B (Sanfillipo B) | α-N- acetylglucosaminide | heparan sulphate |
| MPS III-C (Sanfillipo C) | heparan-α- glucosaminide N- acetyltransferase | heparan sulphate |
| MPS III-D (Sanfillipo D) | N-acetylglucosamine 6- sulfatase | heparan sulphate |
| MPS IVA (Morquio A) | galactosamine -6- sulfate sulfatase | keratan/chondroitin 6-sulfate |
| MPS IVB (Morquio B) | ß-Galactosidase | keratin sulphate |
| MPS VI (Maroteaux-Lamy syndrome) | N-Acetyl galactosamine α -4-sulfate sulfatase | dermatan sulphate |
| MPS VII (Sly syndrome) | ß-Glucuronidase | heparan/dermatan/Chondroitin 6-sulphate |
| MPS IX (Natowicz syndrome) | Hyaluronidase | hyaluronic acid |
| 2. Mucolipidoses | | |
| | | |
| ML I (Sialidosis) | α -neuraminidase l | Sialyloligosaccharides |
| ML II (I-cell disease) | N-acetylglucosaminyl-1- phosphotransferase | oligosaccharides and lipids |
| ML III (Pseudo-Hurler's polydystrophy) | N-acetyl glucosamine- 1-phosphotransferase | oligosaccharides and lipids |
| ML IV (Sialolipidosis) | Mucolipin I | Lipids |
| | | |
| 3. Sphingolidoses | | |
| | | |

| G _{M1} gangliosidosis | β-galactosidase | G _{M1} gangliosides |
|---|--|------------------------------|
| G _{M2} gangliosidosis Type I (Tay-Sachs) | ß-hexosaminidase A | G _{M2} gangliosides |
| G _{M2} gangliosidosis Type 2 (Sandhoff's disease) | β-hexosaminidase A+B | G _{M2} gangliosides |
| G _{M2} activator protein deficiency (AB variant) | G _{M2} ganglioside activator | G_{M2} gangliosides |
| Niemann-Pick disease, SMPD1-associated | acid sphingomyelinase | Sphingomyelin |
| Niemann-Pick C | NPC1 and NPC2 | cholesterol/glycolipids |
| Gaucher's Disease | glucocerebrosidase | Glucocerebroside |
| Farber's disease | Ceramidase | fatty material lipids |
| Fabry's disease | Trihexosylceramide α- galactosidase | Globotriasylceramide |
| Metachromatic leukodystrophy | arylsulfatase A | Sulfatides |
| Mucosulfatidosis | Sulfatase-modifying factor-1 | Sulfatases |
| Krabbe's disease | Galactosylceramide ß- galactosidase | Galactocerebroside |
| 4. Oligosaccharidoses | | |
| Galactosialidosis | Cathepsin A | Sialyloligosaccharides |
| α/β-Mannosidosis | α/β-Mannosidase | mannose/oligosaccharides |
| Fucosidosis | α -fucosidase | Fucose |
| Schindler's disease | αN- acetygalactosaminidase | Oligosaccharides |
| | | |
| 5. Others | | |
| | | |
| Pompe disease | α-glycosidase | Glycogen |
| Salla disease | Sialin | sialic acid |
| Wolman disease | acid lipidase | cholesterol esters |
| Batten disease | battenin | Battenin |

Table 1 –Different Classes of Lysosomal Storage Disorders

(Adapted from The Merck Manuals)

1.2.3 Tay-Sachs Disease

Tay-Sachs disease is an autosomal recessive genetic disease that is caused by a mutation in the hexosaminidase A gene (Kaback 2000). Although the disease is generally rare, it's prevalence is increased in specific populations such as that of the Ashkenazi Jewish and French Canadian; one in approximately 27 Jewish people in the US carry the Tay-Sachs disease gene (Tegay 2012). It is manifested through rapid neurodegeneration, difficulty swallowing, progressive blindness, as well as cognitive decline and other severe symptoms. The HEXA gene codes for the subunit alpha of the lysosomal hydrolytic enzyme hexosaminidase A, which functions in the catabolism of glycolipids, more specifically GM2-ganglioside. Gangliosides play important roles in cellcell recognition as well as in development and function of the nervous system. If the hexosaminidase A enzyme is deficient, gangliosides and primarily GM2-ganglioside accumulate in the neurones. This interferes with regular neuronal function leading to rapid neurodegeneration and cognitive decline (Rosebush, MacQueen et al. 1995).

8

1.3 Mucopolysaccharidoses

About 30% of all LSDs belong to a group called mucopolysaccharidoses (MPS), which consist of several storage diseases that are caused by genetic deficiencies of

lysosomal enzymes required for the catabolism of glycosaminoglycans (Muenzer 2011). Thus, glycosaminoglycans that are transported to the lysosome to be catabolised are then accumulated due to the absence of proper enzymatic degradation. These disorders manifest through similar symptoms, which include physical deformations such as rough facial features, short stature, hepatomegaly (enlargement of the liver), as well as joint and bone deformations. Also, neurological issues arise, leading to cognitive and behavioural problems, such as memory loss, reduced fear, increased aggressiveness, and developmental delay. Other symptoms include hearing loss and retinal degeneration. The patients have a very limited lifespan, usually dying prior to adulthood (National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, 2014).

MPS Ш (Sanfilippo syndrome) is the common most of the mucopolysaccharidoses, it also causes the mildest of physical abnormalities (Gilkes and Heldermon 2014). MPS III is caused by a lysosomal accumulation of heparan sulfate (HS), a plasma membrane glycosaminoglycan, which consists of long carbohydrate chain of repeating disaccharide units that are attached to a cell surface or matrix proteins. HS is heavily involved in cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions, cell growth and cell differentiation, which are all important in development of bone and connective tissues. When the time comes for its turnover, heparan sulfate is brought to the lysosome via endocytic mechanisms and is subsequently catabolised by a consequent action of eight lysosomal enzymes (Freeman and Hopwood 1992) (FIGURE 1). Defects

9

in four of these enzymes lead to four different subtypes of MPS III. These four subtypes sulfamidase are: MPS IIIA (heparan deficiency. SGSH), MPS IIIB (α-Nacetylglucosaminidase deficiency, NAGLU, MPS IIIC (heparan- α -glucosaminide Nacetyltransferase deficiency, HGSNAT), and MPS IIID (N-acetylglucosamine 6-sulfatase deficiency, GNS). Clinically, there is no significant difference between the 4 types of MPS III, although it has been suggested that MPS IIIA has a more severe course (van de Kamp, Niermeijer et al. 1981). The incidence for all four disorders together is approximately 1 in 70,000 live births (National MPS society 2011).

1.4.1 Mucopolysaccharidosis Type IIIC

Mucopolysaccharidosis Type IIIC (MPS IIIC, Sanfilippo type C) is the second most rare form of MPS III after MPS IIID, with an incidence of approximately 1 in 1,500,000 live births worldwide (Meikle, Hopwood et al. 1999), and of 0.1-0.2/100,000 live births in Portugal and the Netherlands (Poorthuis, Wevers et al. 1999, Pinto, Caseiro et al. 2004). Heparan sulfate acetyl-CoA: α-glucosamine N-acetyltransferase (HGSNAT) (Fan, Zhang et al. 2006), the enzyme deficient in MPS IIIC is located at the lysosomal membrane and is involved in the acetylation of amino group of a terminal glucosamine residue of HS, which is required for the subsequent hydrolysis of the remaining chain (Kresse, Barttsocas 1976) (**FIGURE 1**). This causes HS to remain undegraded, leading to its accumulation in lysosomes, and cellular damage in many tissues (Feldhammer, Durand et al. 2009). HS is also excreted in the urine of MPS IIIC patients, which is used as a basic screen for the disease. The disease is manifested through several issues such as sleep disorders, hearing loss, joint stiffness, hepatomegaly, mental retardation and mental decline, among others (Bartsocas, Grobe et al. 1979). The rapid mental decline observed in the patients is not fully characterized, and its cause is unclear



Figure 1 – Catabolic pathway for degradation of heparan sulfate

Heparan sulfate acetyl CoA acetyl transferase (step 4, in red box) is the enzyme which deficiency leads to MPS IIIC or Sanfillippo syndrome. When mutated, this enzyme is unable to acetylate the terminal glucosamine group on the heparan sulfate chain. This leads to accumulation of undegraded heparan sulfate.

1.4.2 Mutations in HGSNAT

Hrebicek *et al.* first described the mutations in the *Hgsnat* gene leading to deleterious effects including 3 frameshift mutations, 4 nonsense mutations, 14 missense mutations and 6 splice-site mutations (Hrebicek, Mrazova et al. 2006). Further studies have elucidated the mutation patterns in specific populations around the world. For example, 3 splice-site mutations, 3 frameshift deletions, 1 nonsense mutation, and 2 missense mutations were discovered in nine alleles from Italian patients (Fedele and Hopwood 2010). In Dutch patients, two splice-site mutations, one frameshift mutation, three nonsense mutations and eight missense mutations were discovered. Two of these missense mutations, p.R344C and p.S518F were most frequent amongst the mutated alleles (Ruijter, Valstar et al. 2008).

1.4.3 Mouse Model of MPSIIIC

A mouse model of MPS IIIC has been developed in order to study the pathophysiology of the disease. This mouse model was generated via gene trap technology (Stanford, Cohn et al. 2001), where the Hagsnat gene was effectively inactivated by introducing a ß-geo cassette, a functional fusion between the ßgalactosidase and neomycin resistance genes, into intron 7 of the mouse Hgsnat gene. This leads to a splicing of the mouse gene to generate a fusion protein containing Hgsnat amino acid sequence encoded by the exons 1-7 followed by aminoglycoside 3'phosphotransferase and β -galactosidase. The Btk exon in the trap construct contains termination codons in all reading frames to prevent translation of the downstream Hgsnat exons (Hansen, Markesich et al. 2008). An efficient reduction of Hgsnat mRNA expression levels (0.6-1.5% of the normal levels) was demonstrated in multiple mouse tissues including liver, spleen, brain, and muscle. Also, HGSNAT activity in the same tissues was reduced to the levels below 1%, confirming the efficacy and validity of the mouse model. Biochemical analysis of brain and liver of the Hgsnat-Geo mice showed increased levels of glycosaminoglycans in both organs starting from birth, as well as an accumulation of GM2 and GM3-gangliosides in the brain at birth. The MPS IIIC mice have a reduced lifespan of 12-14 months, compared to a wild type mouse's lifespan of

about 2 years. Also, starting from 10 days the MPS IIIC mice show significantly increased levels of inflammatory markers TNF α and MIP1 α in the brain. A decrease in neuronal density in somatosensory cortex was demonstrated at 10 and 12 months of age. Behaviourally, the KO mice exhibit hyperactivity beginning at 6 months of age as revealed by the open-field test, as well as cognitive memory defects beginning at 10 months of age as shown by the Morris water maze test. It is unclear however if the cognitive and neurological defects observed in the MPS IIIC mouse model are solely caused by the neuronal loss which could be observed only at 10 months. Similar characteristics were previously discovered in MPS IIIA and MPS IIIB mice (Ohmi, Greenberg et al. 2003, Ausseil, Desmaris et al. 2008).

1.5.1 Synapses and Synaptic Vesicles

The synapse is a structure that allows a neuron to transmit a chemical or electrical signal to another neuron. The pre-synaptic cell, once stimulated by an excitatory or inhibitory signal from another cell, generates and releases synaptic vesicles that are loaded with neurotransmitters. These neurotransmitters activate receptors on the plasma membrane of the nearby post-synaptic cell, which allow either an excitatory or inhibitory signal to be transmitted to the subsequent neuron. In order for the synaptic vesicles to release their neurotransmitters into the synaptic cleft (space

between pre- and post- synaptic cells), they must first form a fusion pore with the presynaptic terminal membrane. This fusion pore is formed via intricate protein-protein interaction between proteins on the synaptic vesicle (v-SNAREs) and proteins on the target pre-synaptic membrane (t-SNARES)(Pevsner, Hsu et al. 1994, Hannah, Schmidt et al. 1999). These two sets of proteins form coiled complexes and give the synaptic vesicle enough energy to form a fusion pore with the plasma membrane of the presynaptic cell, releasing its contents into the synaptic cleft (Söllner, Bennett et al. 1993).

1.5.2 Synaptic Vesicle Biogenesis and Recycling

Initial synaptic vesicles biogenesis happens in the Golgi apparatus in the cell body of a neuron (Hannah, Schmidt et al. 1999), which can be at a significant distance from the synaptic terminal, sometimes reaching distances of up to 1 meter away (Alberts et al. 2002). Proteins of synaptic vesicles are packaged in vesicles at the Golgi apparatus in the cell body and then brought to the synaptic terminal for use in neurotransmission. It is therefore, essential for the cell to develop synaptic vesicle recycling machinery. where after dissociating endocytosis (release via of neurotransmitters) the components of the synaptic vesicle are recycled and repackaged into another synaptic vesicle. This process occurs near the synaptic terminal so no excess time is spent producing new vesicles (Ryan, Reuter et al. 1993). The endosome

is the organelle responsible for this recycling process. Endosomes gather up the vesicle once it has released its neurotransmitters, and either brings it to the lysosome for degradation, or repackages the components to form another vesicle (Hoopmann, Punge et al. 2010). The proteins involved in these interactions are crucial for successful neurotransmission, as for synaptic vesicle recycling. When defects are introduced into either the synaptic vesicle protein complexes (v-SNARES) or other proteins involved into the recycling pathways, neurotransmission is severely compromised, leading to neurodegenerative symptoms in patients. For example, a mutation in the v-SNARE gene *SNAP29* has been shown to lead to severe neurological defects in patients including symptoms such as cerebral dysgenesis and ichthyosis (Sprecher, Ishida-Yamamoto et al. 2005).

1.5.3 Synaptic Spines

Synaptic spines are small extensions that branch off of neuronal dendrites. These structures act as signal receptors where they process neurotransmitter signals received from a pre-synaptic cell and aid in the transmission of signals to the neuronal cell body (Matsuzaki, Honkura et al. 2004). They also act as contact points between neurons. There are hundreds of thousands of spines present on each neuron and they regularly appear at a frequency of about 5 spines per 1 μ m of dendrite in the adult hippocampus (Trommald, Jensen et al. 1995). The spines found on hippocampal and

cortical neurons are generally excitatory. One of their major roles is to help to compartmentalize cellular signals to one specific portion of the dendrite, as this is essential for a more localized cellular response in adult mammalian brain. They are highly dynamic, constantly changing in number and size in order to accommodate the dynamic requirements of memory retention and learning (Engert and Bonhoeffer 1999). Spines are heavily involved in both memory and learning processes in the mammalian central nervous system during which they go through both long-term potentiation (LTP; habituation of neurons to a specific signal) where the synaptic spine density increases in response to the repeated exposure to a signal, and long-term depression (LTD; dehabituation of neurons to a specific signal) where the synaptic spine density decreases in response to the absence of a signal (Toni, Buchs et al. 1999).

Synaptic spines drastically differ in their morphology, some being more mature and dynamic than others. These spines often have a shape of a mushroom with a large bulbous head and a thing stalk, which is the most mature formation. Other subtypes such as thin, with a long stalk and small bulbous head, or stubby, with a large bulbous head and no stalk, are less mature and differentiated (Harris, Jensen et al. 1992). Mushroom formation spines are the most susceptible to signal intake.

1.5.4 Microglia and Synapses

Microglia act as the macrophages of the brain and spinal cord and therefore are considered to be the main form of immune response in the central nervous system (Rivest 2009). They recognize antigens in the central nervous system and rapidly phagocytose them. Microglia are also heavily implicated in synaptic plasticity (Morris, Clark et al. 2013). A major role in biogenesis of synaptic spines belong to microglia cells through a process called synaptic pruning (Paolicelli, Bolasco et al. 2011). Regulating the synaptic network connections that are made by the adult brain is crucial for the correct and efficient wiring of the CNS; if too many or too few connections are made, the central nervous system will not be able to function at full capacity. It has been shown that microglia engulf synapses during the crucial time of synaptic maturation. Also, during synapse maturation, neurons upregulate the production of the chemokine fractaline Cx2cl1, the receptor of which is only expressed on microglia (Parkhurst, Yang et al. 2013). When the receptor is knocked out, more synaptic spines are significantly found in the deficient neurons compared to the wild type, indicating a defect in synaptic pruning. In contrast, if microglia becomes activated, an excess of synaptic pruning may occur, significantly reducing the density of synaptic spines due to over-regulation of synapses. Alternatively, activated microglia secrete TNF- α (tumour necrosis factor alpha), which is a molecule involved in the inflammatory response playing also a significant role in synaptic pruning/scaling (Stellwagen and Malenka 2006). However, at

18

high enough doses, TNF- α becomes neurotoxic due to increased levels of synaptic pruning, which decreases the density of synapses and synaptic spines to a non-functional level.

19

1.5.5 Synaptic defects in LSDs

Following exocytosis in the presynaptic nerve terminal, SVs are retrieved from the presynaptic plasma membrane by endocytosis, reloaded with neurotransmitter and become available for additional rounds of neurotransmitter release. Under certain circumstances, SVs fuse with presynaptic endosomes, sorting the SV proteins for degradation instead of reformation of new SVs (Murthy and De Camilli 2003, Uytterhoeven, Kuenen et al. 2011). Although nerve terminals lack ultrastructurally identifiable lysosomes, recent evidence indicates that nerve terminals contain endosomal populations where lysosomal and SV proteins co-exist, along with the adaptor AP-3 (Newell-Litwa, Salazar et al. 2009), which is thought to function in SV reformation from endosomes (Blumstein, Faundez et al. 2001). These endosomallysosomal hybrid structures are very likely involved in discrimination between recycling/reformation of SVs and degradation of SV proteins. Therefore, lysosomal storage could potentially affect sorting machineries involved in the generation of SVs.

Several studies by Wilkinson *et al.* and Vitry *et al.* have demonstrated a decrease in the levels of several synaptic proteins, including VAMP2 and synaptophysin, both

involved in synaptic vesicle function, in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus of mouse models of different types of MPS III, specifically MPS IIIA and MPS IIIB (Vitry, Ausseil et al. 2009, Wilkinson, Holley et al. 2012). VAMP2 or synaptobrevin is an integral member of the v-SNARE complex and participates in direct interactions with members of the t-SNARE. When VAMP2 binds to the t-SNARE, the proteins coil together in order to bring the vesicle closer to the pre-synaptic membrane (Melia, Weber et al. 2002). Once the vesicle is in proximity, the vesicle membrane and the target membrane fuse. Synaptophysin is an accessory protein that interacts with proteins such as VAMP2 to aid in the coiling process. If either of these proteins is defective or repackaged incorrectly, the endocytic/neurotransmitter system becomes compromised. The deficiency of both VAMP2 and synaptophysin in MPS III may suggest therefore that defects in synaptic function can also occur in the human patients.

1.6 Hypotheses and Objectives

Our major hypothesis is that the neurological and cognitive decline observed in the MPS IIIC mouse model is not only a consequence of neuronal loss observed at 10 months of age, but also a consequence of a defect in synaptic transmission occurring earlier in life. Defects in synaptic transmission could also explain the behaviour changes (hyperactivity, reduced anxiety) observed at 6 months i.e. before the neuronal loss. By analyzing both pre-synaptic and post-synaptic machinery of neurons in brains

of MPS IIIC mice at different ages, we can define whether synaptic transmission defects are present and when they start.

We therefore propose to study synaptic vesicle proteins as well as synaptic spine density and dynamics in order to elucidate a mechanism for the neurological decline observed in MPS IIIC mice and patients. Both pre- and post-synaptic neurons will be analyzed for the presence of defects that can interfere with regular neuronal function at the synaptic level. In particular we will study proteins that are heavily implicated in synaptic function, as well as morphology of neuronal structures and organelles such as synaptic spines, Golgi, and endosomes. Any defect in these aspects could potentially translate to a compromise of the central nervous system of the MPS IIIC patients.

Furthermore, by evaluating cellular processes such as the endosomal cycle and synaptic vesicle cycle or the interactions between neurons and other brain cells, we can elucidate a mechanism through which lysosomal storage of HS can lead to synaptic defects.

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

2.1 Laboratory animals (Thy1-GFP, Tay-Sachs, HGSNAT)

HGSNAT-Geo mice. A functional murine model of MPSIII C was generated at the Texas A&M Institute for Genomic Medicine using gene trap technology. A selectable marker, β -geo cassette (a functional fusion between the β -galactosidase gene and neomycin resistance gene) was introduced into intron 7 of the mouse *Hgsnat* gene to identify successful gene trapping. This insertion leads to the splicing of the *Hgsnat* exon 7 to generate a fusion protein containing Hgsnat amino acid sequence encoded by the exons 1-7 followed by aminoglycoside 3'-phosphotransferase and β -galactosidase. The BTK (Bruton agammaglobulinemia tyrosine kinase) exon in the trap construct contained termination codons in all reading frames to prevent translation of the downstream Hgsnat exons. Targeted embryonic stem cells were injected into blastocysts and the resulting chimeras bred to generate F1 and subsequently F2 generations of mice homozygous for *Hgsnat-Geo* allele.

Thy1-EGFP and Thy-EGFP/Hgsnat-Geo mice. The Thy1-EGFP transgene that leads to expression of enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) in hippocampal neurons was designed using a modified regulatory region of the mouse thy 1.2 gene with the Thy1 promoter that put upstream of an EGFP sequence was gene (http://jaxmice.jax.org/strain/007788.html). The transgene was then injected into C57BI/6 oocytes. The transgenic mice were subsequently backcrossed with C57BI/6 mice for ten generations. Heterozygous Thy1-EGFP mice were bred with Hgsnat-Geo mice in order to generate Thy-EGFP/Hgsnat-Geo strain, an MPS IIIC mice that express EGFP in hippocampal neurons (Feng, Mellor et al. 2000)

Thy1-EGFP Tay-Sachs mice. Generation of mouse model of Tay-Sachs disease with targeted disruption of hexosaminidase A gene has been previously described (Yamanaka, Johnson et al. 1994). The strain was backcrossed for at least 10 generations to C57BL/6NCrl strain distributed by Charles River Quebec. Homozygous *Hexa* KO animals were bred to heterozygous *Thy1-EGFP* mice and double-heterozygous animals in the litter intercrossed to produce *Thy-EGFP+/-/ Hexa KO* strain.

All mice were bred and maintained in the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC)-accredited animal facilities of the Ste-Justine Hospital Research Center according to the CCAC guidelines. Mice were housed in an enriched environment with continuous access to food and water, under constant temperature and humidity, on a 12
h light: dark cycle. Approval for the animal care and the use in the experiments was granted by the Animal Care and Use Committee of the Ste-Justine Hospital Research Center.

2.2 Genotyping

The genotypes of mice were determined using tail DNA. The clipped tail tip biopsies were incubated in a solution of 500 ml lysis buffer containing 10% SDS, 0.2M EDTA, 1M Tris (pH 7.6), 5 M NaCl and 30 μ l of Proteinase K (10 mg/ml) overnight at 55°C. The solution was then centrifuged at 14, 000 RPM for 10 minutes, and the pellet was washed with isopropanol and 70% ethanol, and left to dry. DNA pellets were then re-suspended in 100 μ l of water and heated at 55°C for another 10 minutes.

The PCR to amplify the *Hgsnat* gene fragment was performed in a total volume of 50 µl containing 10 pmol of each primer, 0.2 mM dNTPs, 5 U/µl Taq polymerase (Invitrogen) and 50 ng of genomic DNA. Multiplex primers for detection of *Hgsnat* alleles were 5'-AGGCTCCAC ACGTGGTAAGT-3' (2 Forward), 5'-CTTATCTCCACGCGTCAATG-3' (1 Reverse), and 5'-CCAATAAACCCTCTTGCAGTTGC-3' (3 Downstream reverse). Samples were denatured at 95 °C for 2 min, followed by 10 cycles at 94 °C for 15 s, 52 °C for 30 s and 72 °C for 30 s, followed by 30 cycles at 94 °C for 15 s, 52 °C for 1 min and 72 °C for 30 s with a final extension reaction at 72 °C for 5 min.

The PCR to amplify the *EGFP* gene fragment was performed in a total volume of 50 µl containing 20 µM of each primer, 2.5 mM dNTPs, 5 U/µl Taq polymerase (Invitrogen) and 50 ng of genomic DNA. Multiplex primers for detection of *EGFP* alleles were 5'-AAGTTCATCTGCACCACCG-3' (Internal forward), 5'-TCCTTGAAGAAGATGGTG CG-3' (Internal reverse), 5'-CTAGGCCACAGAATTG AAAGATCT-3' (Actin control forward), and 5'-GTAGGTGGAAATTC TAGCATCATCC-3' (Actin control reverse). Samples were denatured at 94 °C for 1.5 min, followed by 35 cycles at 94 °C for 30 s, 60 °C for 1 min and 72 °C for 1 min with a final extension reaction at 72 °C for 1 min.

The PCR to amplify the *Hexa* gene fragment was performed in a total volume of 50 µl containing 100 pM of each primer, 0.2 mM dNTPs, 1.5 U/µl Taq polymerase (Invitrogen) and 100 ng of genomic DNA. Multiplex primers for detection of HexA alleles were 5'-GGCCAGATACAATCATACAG-3' (Hexa-F), 5'-CTGTCCACATACTCTCCCCAC AT-3' (Hexa-R) and 5'-CACCAAAGAAGGGAGCCGGT-3' (PGK). Samples were denatured for the first cycle at 94 °C for 1.5 min, followed by 35 cycles at 94 °C for 30 s, 60 °C for 1 min and 72 °C for 1 min with a final extension reaction at 72 °C for 1 min.

2.3 Immunohistochemistry

Mice were anesthetised with a pentobarbital solution and transcardiacally perfused with 30 ml of PBS followed by 30 ml of 4% PFA in PBS. Mouse brains were

removed and then incubated in 4% PFA overnight at 4°C. Brains were then placed in a 30% sucrose solution for 2 days, cut into halves sagittaly, frozen in Optimum Cutting Temperature (OCT) compound in plastic organ storage cups and stored at -80°C until used. Brains were cut into 40 µm sagittal sections using a cryostate and stored in PBS in 24 well plates at 4°C. Thy-EGFP/ Hexa KO and Thy-EGFP/ Hgsnat-Geo brain slices were immediately mounted onto microscope slides using Vectashield and sealed using nail varnish. Tissue sections for immunocytochemistry were blocked in a 5% goat serum -1% Triton X-100-PBS solution for 1 h and subsequently incubated with primary antibodies against synaptophysin (Synaptic Systems, 1:300, rabbit), VAMP2 (Cedarlane, 1:300, rabbit) and NeuN (Millipore, 1:400, mouse) overnight at 4°C. Sections were washed 3 times with PBS, and then incubated with Alexafluor-conjugated secondary antibodies (Alexa 488 goat anti rabbit IgG and Alexa 555 goat anti mouse IgG) for 2 h. Tissue sections were washed three times with PBS, and then mounted onto microscope slides using Vectashield as described before. Stacked images were taken on a Zeiss LSM510 confocal microscope using the 63X oil immersion objective.

2.4 Hippocampal Cultures

Embryos were extracted from pregnant female mice at embryonic day 16-17. The hippocampi were dissected out and kept in Hanks Balanced Salt Solution containing antibiotics. The tissue was incubated with 0.05% trypsin solution (Gibco) at 37°C for 15

minutes, washed 3 times with HBSS, and the cells were dissociated by consecutive pipetting using glass Pasteur pipettes with 3 different opening sizes (3, 2 and 1 mm). The cells were counted using a hemacytometer, and re-suspended in Neurobasal medium with B27, N2, and glutamine supplements. The cells were plated in 12 well plates at 50,000 cells per well on Poly-L-Lysine coated coverslips, left to differentiate for 21 days while changing half of the medium on days 3, 7, 14 and 21, fixed using a 4% PFA, 4% sucrose solution for 20 minutes and then stored in PBS at 4°C.

2.5 Immunofluorescence

The PFA-fixed cells were washed in PBS and permeabilized using 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 5 min. Cells were washed again and then blocked with a 5% BSA-PBS solution for 1 h. Primary antibodies against synapsin (Millipore, 1:200, rabbit), synaptophysin (Sigma, 1:300, mouse), β-3 tubulin (Sigma, 1:400, mouse), MAP2 (Sigma, 1:2000, chicken), EEA1 (Millipore, 1:200, rabbit), giantin (1:300, rabbit), LAMP2 (1:100, rat), and heparan sulfate (10E4 epitope, USBiological, 1:100, mouse) in 1% BSA-PBS were added and the cells were incubated at 10°C overnight with light shaking. The cells were then washed 3 times with PBS and incubated with secondary antibody (Alexa 555 goat anti mouse/rabbit IgG, Alexa 555 goat anti mouse/rabbit IgG, Alexa 647 goat anti rat IgG) for 2 h. The cells were washed with PBS and the coverslips were dipped into double-distilled water and mounted onto microscope slides using Prolong Gold anti-fade reagent containing DAPI. Images were taken on a Zeiss LSM510 confocal microscope using the 63X oil immersion objective.

2.6 ELISA

TNF- α levels in media of hippocampal cultures were measured using a TNF- α Mouse ELISA kit from Life Technologies (KMC3011).

2.7 Western blots

Brain and liver tissues from *Hgsnat-Geo* and wild type mice were cut into pieces and mixed with 3 volumes of ice-cold RIPA buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP40, 0.25% Na-deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 2 mM EDTA, protease inhibitor cocktail, phosphate inhibitor cocktail and PMSF. The tissues were homogenized via sonication (three times for 20 sec). The cells were centrifuged at 4°C for 30 min. The supernatant was collected and analyzed for protein concentration using the Bradford assay. The samples were mixed with Laemmli buffer then boiled for 3 minutes. 40 μ g of protein for each sample was loaded into a polyacrylamide gel with 15% resolving gel and 4% stacking gel and electrophoresis was run at 60-80 mV for ~1 h. Kaleidoscope molecular weight ladder (Bio-Rad) markers were used to determine molecular size of protein fragments. Proteins were transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane using a Bio-Rad transfer apparatus for 1 h at 70 mV. The membrane was stained with 5% Ponceau red stain to verify the presence of protein bands, and then blocked for 1 h in 5% BSA in TBST. The membranes were washed with TBST and incubated with antibodies for synaptophysin (Synaptic systems, 1:1000), VAMP2 (Cedarlane Laboratories, 1:1000), synapsin (Abcam, 1:1500) and GAPDH (1:10000) overnight at 10°C. Membranes were washed three times for 5 min with TBST, and then stained with either rabbit or mouse HRP-conjugated secondary antibody for 2 h and washed again using TBST. The development was performed with Pierce ECL Western Blotting Substrate (Thermo Scientific) in accordance with the manufacturer's protocol.

Chapter 3

Results

3.1 Thy1-EGFP/MPSIIIC Mouse Shows a Reduction in the Number of Synaptic Spines on Hippocampal Neurons

Since cognitive defects were observed in the MPSIIIC mouse model, we analyzed synaptic spines on hippocampal neurons because of their importance for learning and memory. Due to the expression of GFP in hippocampal neurons of Thy1-EGFP/MPSIIIC mouse the structure of the spines could be directly studied by confocal microscopy without preliminary histochemical or immunohistochemical staining. Initial analysis was performed on brains of 3 months-old mice, i.e. before the age when the first signs of behavioural problems are observed. Mice were perfused with PBS followed by 4% PFA, and their brains extracted and sagittally cut at 80 µm-thick sections using a cryostate. The sections were analyzed for synaptic spine density in the CA1 region of the hippocampus, which is heavily involved in memory processing using a confocal fluorescent microscopy. From 20 to 30 Z-stacked images (1 µm apart) were taken for each field. We detected a significant reduction in the number of synaptic spines present on the MPSIIIC neurons as compared to the WT mice (FIGURE 2A).

Also, the MPSIIIC neurons showed an uneven thickness, alternating between a thinning and enlarging of the dendrite, compared to the WT cells which showed mostly regular, uniform dendrites. Overall, the dendrites of MPSIIIC neurons seemed to be defective in both general structure and in synaptic spine density. In order to verify whether this phenotype becomes more pronounced with age, we repeated analysis with brains of 8month-old mice. We found that similar defects could be seen in hippocampal neurons of the 8 month-old mice: a reduction in synaptic spine density as compared to the WT cells, as well as a structurally inferior overall dendrite structure (FIGURE 2B), but the defects found in 8 month-old mice were more severe than in 3 month-old mice. Finally, in order to establish an onset time for the development of spinal defects, WT and MPSIIIC mouse hippocampal neurons were analyzed at postnatal day 20. We found yet again the synaptic spine and structural defects similar to those seen in the MPSIIIC mice at both 3 months and 8 months of age (FIGURE 2C), although the defects were not as severe. In all cases, large spheroid accumulations were also seen along the dendrites of MPSIIIC hippocampal neurons (FIGURES 2A-C; white arrows). Following quantitative analysis of the synaptic spine density for hippocampal neurons from mice of different age, we could see that the defects in spine density in the KO cells were significant in all cases, and that the defects become progressively worse as the MPSIIIC mouse age increases (FIGURE 2D).



Figure 2. Synaptic Spines on Hippocampal Neurons of Thy1-EFP WT and MPSIIIC KO mice

(A) Confocal microscopy image of neurons in the CA1 region of the hippocampus in brains of 3 month-old (A), 8 month-old (B) and 20 days-old (C) Thy1-GFP WT (left) and MPSIIIC (right) mice.

Dendritic sections ~40 μ m away from the soma are marked by red boxes and expanded in high-magnification inserts in each image. Red arrows mark synaptic spines, white arrows, dendritic spheroids observed in the neurons of MPS IIIC mice. Magnification 63X. Consequent Z-stacks were overlaid in order to obtain an image of the full neuron. Bar equals to 10μm.

(D) Quantification of images of synaptic spine density for 20 day-old (left), 3 month-old (middle) and 8 month-old (right) WT and HEXA KO hippocampal neurons. Spine density was calculated per 20 μ m of dendrite. Quantifications were performed on 3 different neurons per section for 5 different mice per age per genotype. More neurons from additional mice will be analyzed in the future to further validate results. All mice were male. Data show mean values (±SD). Significance via two-way repeated measurements ANOVA was used to test differences between different ages as well as genotype (** p<0.0001).

3.2 Synaptic Vesicle Marker Proteins VAMP2 and Synaptophysin Show Reduction in MPSIIIC Mouse Brains

Since post-synaptic defects are often found concurrently with pre-synaptic defects, we have analyzed brain sections of WT and MPSIIIC mice for the levels of the neuronal proteins associated with synaptic vesicles. 40 μ m sagittal brain sections from 3 month-old WT and MPSIIIC mice were stained with antibodies against the pre-synaptic

markers synaptophysin (FIGURE 3A, green) or VAMP2 (FIGURE 3B, green) and co-stained with an antibody against a neuronal marker, NeuN (red). Both pre-synaptic markers were decreased in the MPSIIIC brain sections as compared to the WT brain sections in the CA1 region of the hippocampus, as well as the cerebral cortex. The reduction of these proteins reveals pre-synaptic neuronal defects and suggests a compromise of the entire neuronal network.



WT













(A) Immunohistochemical staining of synaptophysin in the CA1 region of the hippocampus of WT (left) and MPSIIIC (right) 3 month-old mice. Synaptophysin staining is shown in green, and NeuN staining in red.

(B) Immunohistochemical staining of VAMP2 in the CA1 region of the hippocampus of WT (left) and MPSIIIC (right) 3 month-old mice. VAMP2 staining is shown in green, and NeuN staining, in red. Magnification 63X. Bar equals to 10 μ m.

(C) Quantification of images of pre-synaptic marker staining in WT and MPS IIIC brain sections. Experiments were performed on 3 different brain sections from 3 different mice per genotype. All mice were male.

Data show mean values (\pm SD). Significant differences between the mean values in t-test (** p<0.01) are shown.

3.3 Hippocampal MPSIIIC Neurons Maintain in Culture Pathological Alterations Similar to Those Detected in the Mouse Brain

In order to analyze if defects observed in the hippocampal neurons in vivo would occur in cultured neurons, hippocampal cultures were established from both WT and MSPIIIC mouse embryos at embryonic day of 16-17. This is the age when the hippocampi are developed and are large enough to dissect from the brain. The cells were then left to differentiate in culture for 21 days, previously shown to be the optimal period to study synapses in vitro (Grabrucker, Vaida et al. 2009). Of note all the previous data showing pathological changes and lysosomal storage in MPSIIIC mouse neurons have been collected using mouse brains and not neurons in culture. Therefore it was necessary to first establish whether the hippocampal neurons in culture store the same materials, namely glycosaminoglycans (heparan sulfate) and gangliosides as the neurons in mouse brain sections. Cultures from WT and MPSIIIC mice were triple stained with antibodies against LAMP1, a lysosomal membrane protein (purple), heparan sulfate, (red), and the neuronal marker NeuN (green) (FIGURE 4A). The confocal images reveal that there is indeed an accumulation of heparan sulfate in the lysosomes of the hippocampal neurons from MPS IIIC mice (shown in pink in the overlay images) and therefore the neurons may be used for further analysis. Furthermore, the MPS IIIC hippocampal neurons show accumulation of secondary storage material, GM2-ganglioside, similar to the accumulation observed in MPS IIIC mouse brain sections (FIGURE 4B).



Figure 4. Lysosomal storage of heparan sulfate in cultured hippocampal neurons from MPSIIIC mice

(A) Confocal microscope images taken for WT (top) and MPS IIIC (bottom) hippocampal cultures that were triple stained with antibodies against LAMP1 (left column, purple), heparan sulfate (second column, red) and NeuN (third column, green). An overlay of all three stains is shown in the fourth column. Magnification 63X. Bar equals to 10 μ m. Panels show representative images of at least 5 neurons studied for 3 Hgsnat-Geo and 3 WT cultures.

(B) Confocal microscope images taken for WT (top) and MPS IIIC (bottom) hippocampal cultures triple stained with antibodies against LAMP1 (left column, purple), NeuN (second column, red) and GM2 (third column, green). An overlay of all three stains is shown in the fourth column. Magnification 63X. Bar equals to 10 μ m. Panels show representative images of at least 5 neurons studied for 3 Hgsnat-Geo and 3 WT cultures

3.4 Synaptic Vesicle Levels are Reduced in MPSIIIC KO Hippocampal Neuron Cultures

The cultured neurons were analyzed for the levels of protein markers of synaptic vesicles. Two main pre-synaptic proteins were studied: synapsin, an integral member of the V-SNARE complex, and synaptophysin, an accessory protein of the V-SNARE complex. Hippocampal cultures were co-stained for synapsin (green) and β-30 tubulin

(red), a dendritic and axonal structural marker (FIGURE 5A). Additional co-staining was done with synaptophysin (green) and another dendritic marker, MAP2 (red), (FIGURE 5B). Quantification of these markers show that there is a significant decrease in both synapsin and synaptophysin levels in the MPS IIIC cultures as compared to the WT cultures (FIGURE 5C). The synaptic vesicles shown as green punctate are well positioned and numerous along the dendrite in WT cells, as shown by the overlay between synapsin/synaptophysin and β-3 tubulin/MAP2 staining, whereas in the MPS IIIC cells only a small fraction of synapsin/synaptophysin-stained vesicles is visible along the dendrites.







Figure 5. Reduced levels of pre-synaptic markers synapsin and synaptophysin in cultured hippocampal neurons from MPSIIIC mice. (A) Confocal images of WT (top) and MPSIIIC (bottom) hippocampal cultures stained for the pre-synaptic marker synapsin (green, left column) and the neuronal marker β-3-tubulin (red, middle column).

(B) Confocal images of WT (top) and MPSIIIC KO (bottom) hippocampal cultures stained for the pre-synaptic marker synaptophysin (green, left column) and the neuronal marker MAP2 (red, middle column).

Magnification 63X. Bar equals to 10 μ m. Panels show representative images of at least 5 neurons studied for 5 Hgsnat-Geo and 3 WT cultures.

(C) Quantification of synapsin (left) and synaptophysin (right) levels in the hippocampal cultures. Data show mean values \pm SD for quantification obtained for 5 different cultures (5 neurons for each culture were analyzed). Significant differences between the mean values in t-test (** p<0.001) are shown.

3.5 Alterations in Post-synaptic Structure in MPSIIIC KO Hippocampal Neuron Cultures

As post-synaptic structures (synaptic spines) were previously shown to be defective in mouse brain sections, we studied post-synaptic structures in hippocampal cultures. Neurons were stained with an antibody against a crucial post-synaptic membrane protein neuroligin-1, important in synapse formation, neuronal maturation and synaptic spine dynamics (green, **FIGURE 6**). In WT cells neuroligin-1 is associated with punctate structures along dendrites, most likely representing spines. This pattern has been previously reported for both cultured neurones and in vivo (Barker, Koch et al. 2008). In contrast, majority of neuroligin-1 in MPS IIIC hippocampal neurons is accumulating in perinuclear structures in the cell body.



Figure 6. Altered Post-synaptic Structure in MPS IIIC hippocampal

neurons

Confocal images of WT (top) and MPSIIIC (bottom) of hippocampal cultures stained for the post-synaptic marker Neuroligin-1 (green) and the nuclear stain DAPI (blue). Magnification 63X. Bar equals to 10 µm. Panels show representative images of at least 5 neurons studied for 3 MPS IIIC and 3 WT cultures. More neurons from additional mice will be analyzed in the future to validate the results.

3.6 No Alterations to the Trans-Golgi Network are Detected in Cultured Hippocampal Neurons from MPS IIIC Mice whereas Accumulations of Early Endosomes are Detected along the Dendrites.

Cumulatively, the results described above provide evidence for the presence of synaptic defects in the neurons of MPSIIIC KO mice. Both number of synaptic spines and synaptic vesicle levels, i.e. post-synaptic and pre-synaptic structures, were reduced in MPS IIIC cultured hippocampal neurons as compared to the WT cells. In order to establish a mechanism elucidating the genesis of these defects, we analysed structures of cellular compartments involved in generation and recycling of synaptic vesicles. The reduction in the levels of synaptic vesicle proteins can occur due to a defect in the trans-Golgi network, which is involved in synaptic vesicle production, or in early endosomes, which are involved in synaptic vesicle recycling once they have released their In order to analyze the trans-Golgi network, WT and KO neurotransmitters. hippocampal cultures were co-stained with the antibodies against the Golgi network tethering protein giantin (green) and the pre-synaptic protein synaptophysin (red) (FIGURE 7A). The giantin was found ubiquitously throughout the cell as it has been previously reported for developing neurons (Zhong 2011) and no difference in the Golgi structure was found between the WT and MPS IIIC cells. Secondly, hippocampal cultures were co-stained with the marker of early endosomes, EEA1 (green) and synaptophysin (red) (FIGURE 7B). There were no overall changes in the levels of the

EEA1 marker, however differences in its intracellular localization in the WT and MPS IIIC cells were present. In the WT cells EEA1 was found exclusively in the soma, whereas the MPS III cells contained multiple EEA1 accumulations along the dendrites most probably corresponding to early endosomes accumulating storage materials. This result suggests that there could be a defect in the endocytic pathway at the endosome level, and this could lead to an arrest in the recycling of synaptic vesicle proteins, leading to a decrease in synaptic vesicle protein levels as discussed earlier.





Figure 7. Immunofluorescence analysis suggests no alterations of Trans-

Golgi network but reveals accumulation of early endosomes in MPSIIIC

hippocampal neurons

(A) Confocal images of WT (top) and MPSIIIC (bottom) hippocampal cultured neurons stained for the trans-Golgi network tethering protein, giantin (green, left column) and pre-synaptic marker synaptophysin (red, middle column). Magnification 63X. Bars are equal to 10 μ m. Panels show representative images of at least 5 neurons studied for 5 Hgsnat-Geo and 3 WT cultures.

(B) Confocal images of WT (top) and MPSIIIC (bottom) hippocampal cultures stained with antibodies against the early endosome marker EEA1 (green, left column) and the pre-synaptic marker synaptophysin (red, middle column). Magnification 63X. White

arrows represent accumulations of EEA1 along the dendrite. Bars are equal to 10 μm. Panels show representative images of at least 15 neurons studied for 5 Hgsnat-Geo and 3 WT cultures.

3.7 Microglia and Secreted TNF- α do not Affect Neurons in Culture

Besides the accumulation of endosomes and recycling defects the complex interaction between microglia and neurons can also be considered as a contributing factor to the cause of the synaptic defects in MPSIIIC mouse brains. Microglia play an important role in the refining of synaptic connections and the regulation of the neuronal network (Morris, Clark et al. 2013). Microglia can either physically interact with a neuron (Paolicelli, Bolasco et al. 2011), or be a source for secretion of regulatory cytokines such as the cytokine TNF- α . TNA- α has a regulatory role changing the number of synaptic connections but in excess, TNF- α can mortally damage neurons (Stellwagen and Malenka 2006). Previous studies in MPS IIIC mice demonstrated presence of activated microglia and 10-fold increased TNA- α expression levels in the mouse brains. Since activated microglia could be also present in hippocampal cultures leading to increased amounts of TNF- α in the cell culture medium and synaptic defects we examined the TNF- α levels by ELISA assay. We found however that the amount of TNF- α was similar in cell culture media from WT and MPS IIIC mice (FIGURE 8). Also, immunofluorescence analysis using the activated microglial marker ILB4 (isolectin

B4) revealed no activated microglia to be present in culture with the neurons (data not shown). These results together demonstrate that the influence of activated microglia is not a factor causing the synaptic defects seen in the MPSIIIC neurons.



Figure 8. TNF- α concentrations are similar in WT and MPSIIIC KO cell culture medium

Concentrations of TNF- α measured in WT and MPSIIIC culture medium. Absorbance values were plugged into the trendline equation obtained from the standard curve to calculate unknown TNF- α concentrations. 4 samples of WT and KO cultures were studied. Inset: standard curve for TNF- α ELISA control solutions with increasing concentrations (pg/ml) of TNF- α . Error negligible.

3.8 Synaptic Spine Defects in Hippocampal Neurons of Tay-Sachs mice

Overall, the previous results show that there are indeed synaptic defects present in MPSIIIC neurons. In order to verify whether synaptic defects are also present in other lysosomal storage diseases we have analysed mice with the KO HexA gene, encoding for alpha subunit of β -hexosaminidase A. In humans HexA defects in Tay-Sachs disease cause deficiency of β -hexosaminidase A, accumulation of GM2-ganglioside, and neuronal death (Jeyakumar, Thomas et al. 2003). In contrast to human patients HexA KO mice retain some ability to catabolize GM2 due to a metabolic bypass catabolized by neuraminidase, so the disease in mice develops slower than in humans (Igdoura, Mertineit et al. 1999). By 10 months they however show gait and sight problems, spasticity, wait loss and progressive myoclonus (Miklyaeva, Dong et al. 2004). As we did for the MPS IIIC mice the HexA KO mice were crossed with Thy-EGFP line to visualize hippocampal neurons. At the age of 3 months, i.e. long before any signs of neurological deterioration could be observed behaviourally, mice were sacrificed and their fixed brain slices analyzed by confocal Z-stacks imaging like we have previously done for MPS IIIC mice. Our results demonstrated that hippocampal neurons in the brains of 3 month-old HexA KO mice showed a reduction in the number of synaptic spines as well structural defects in the dendrites similar to those found in MPS IIIC mice (FIGURE 9A). A quantification of the synaptic spine levels showed that

the reduction in synaptic spines in the KO mice was significant (FIGURE 9B). These results suggest that the synaptic defects found in MPSIIIC mice can be a general phenomenon for all LSD.

А



В



Figure 9. Synaptic Spines are decreased on Hippocampal Neurons of

Thy1-EGFP / HEXA KO mice

(A) Confocal microscopy image of neurons in the CA1 region of the hippocampus in brains from 3 month-old Thy1-GFP WT (left) and HEXA KO (right) mice. Dendritic sections ~40 μ m away from the soma are marked by red boxes and expanded in high-magnification inserts in each image. Magnification 63X. Consequent Z-stacks were overlaid in order to obtain an image of the full neuron. Bar equals to 10 μ m.

(B) Quantification of images of synaptic spine density for 3 month-old WT and HEXA KO hippocampal neurons. Spine density was calculated per 20 μ m of dendrite. Experiments were performed on 3 different neurons from 5 different male mice. Data show mean values (±SD). Five mice were analyzed for each genotype. More neurons from additional mice will be analyzed in the future to further validate results. Significant differences between the mean values in t-test (** p<0.01) are shown.

Chapter 4

Discussion and Conclusions

Our studies represent the first attempt to understand if defects in synaptic transmission and synaptogenesis contribute to neurodevelopmental and behavioural problems as well as neurological decline observed in patients with MPS IIIC, or Sanfillippo type C syndrome. In order to accomplish this goal, we studied synapses on hippocampal neurones of MPS IIIC mice with inactivated *Hgsnat* gene and undetectable levels of HGSNAT activity. We also studied MPS IIIC mice that expressed EGFP in hippocampal neurons (MPS IIIC-Thy1-EGFP), enabling their direct analysis by fluorescent microscopy.

First, we studied morphology and density of synaptic spines, important postsynaptic structures that are heavily involved in synaptic transmission and long-term potentiation/depression, phenomena implicated in learning and memory. We observed a significant, ~30% reduction in the number of synaptic spines on hippocampal neurons of 3 month-old MPS IIIC-Thy1-EGFP mice as compared to neurons of WT mice. This reduction became even more profound with age. By 8 months of age, there was an approximately 55% decrease in the number of spines in the MPS IIIC mice. Also, the MPS IIIC neurons showed an irregular dendritic structure, alternating between thinning and enlargement of the dendrite, the latter appearing as spheroidal accumulations. These dendritic spheroids are commonly found in LSDs and in particularly in MPS (Walkley 1998). It has been previously shown that storage bodies along the dendrites may cause a blockage in transport of endocytic vesicles or other cargo to and from the cell body, causing adverse effects to cellular morphology, including enlargement and thinning of the neuronal dendrites as shown in MPS IIIC neurons (Jeyakumar, Dwek et al. 2005, Bellettato and Scarpa 2010). Importantly, the synaptic spine defects could be observed much earlier in life of the MPS IIIC mice than any other pathological defect (as early as at 20 postnatal days). It has been reported that such early synaptic defects could lead to late-onset cognitive decline later in life (Brunson, Kramar et al. 2005) and we suggest that this can be occurring in MPS IIIC mice where cognitive impairment is observed approximately 10 months of age (Martins, Hulkova et al., in press).

To study further the origin of post-synaptic defects we established cultures of hippocampal neurones from MPS IIIC and WT mice and studied post-synaptic localization of neuroligin-1 protein. Neuroligin-1 is a post-synaptic membrane protein that plays a very important role in the formation of synapses as well as in synaptic spine formation and dynamics. It interacts with the pre-synaptic protein ß-neurexin to form a functional synaptic connection. This connection is not only important for synapse

formation, but also for synaptic function (Dean and Dresbach 2006). Neuroligins interact with proteins involved in neurotransmission such as PSD95 and gephyrin, important for excitatory and inhibitory synaptic scaffolding, respectively (Giannone, Mondin et al. 2013). With these proteins, neuroligins recruit receptors for neurotransmitters to the post-synaptic membrane, such as NMDA-type glutamate receptors, which is important for NMDA-receptor-specific synaptic plasticity (Budreck, Kwon et al. 2013). Staining of cultured MPS IIIC hippocampal neurons with neuroligin-1 antibody showed that neuroligin-1 is accumulated in perinuclear structures in the soma instead of being localized in synaptic spines as it occured in WT cells (Barker, Koch et al. 2008). This difference in localization of neuroligin-1 may therefore provide insight into the mechanism behind the reduced synaptic density in MPS IIIC neurons. Also, since as neuroligin-1 plays an important role in synaptic spine formation, it's abnormal localization observed in the MPS IIIC neurons may explains the reduction in the number of spines on MPS IIIC neurons. Due to the blockage of the vesicular transport along the dendrite potentially caused by spheroidal accumulations as discussed in the previous section, neuroligin-1, initially being produced at the cell body, could be prevented from being transported to it's rightful localization along the dendrites and into dendritic spines, causing its accumulation in perinuclear structures in the cell body. Further experiments must be performed to identity these neuroligin-1-positive structures but it is tempting to speculate that they could be lysosomes or late endosomes.

Post-synaptic defects are often found to occur in parallel with pre-synaptic defects. In order to verify whether this is the case with MPS IIIC mice, pre-synaptic vesicles were analyzed. Brain sections of 3 months-old MPS IIIC and WT mice were stained with antibodies against pre-synaptic vesicle proteins, VAMP2 and synaptophysin. VAMP2 and synaptophysin are both members of the v-SNARE complex, composed of synaptic vesicle proteins involved in docking synaptic vesicles to the pre-synaptic terminal to release neurotransmitters into the synapse. We found a significant reduction in the signals for both proteins in the MPS IIIC brain sections, notably in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex, suggesting the impairment in generation of synaptic vesicles. Both Wilkinson *et al.* and Vitry *et al.* discovered similar reductions in VAMP2 and synaptophysin in brains of MPS IIIA and MPS IIIB mouse models, respectively (Vitry, Ausseil et al. 2009, Wilkinson, Holley et al. 2012).

To investigate this further at the level of single neurones we established and studied cultured hippocampal neurons produced from MPS IIIC and WT embryonic brains sections. Importantly, MPS IIIC hippocampal neurons showed the biochemical defects previously discovered in the neurons in MPS IIIC postnatal brain sections (Martins, Hulkova et al., in press). In particular, we detected increased number of lysosomes and their enlargement revealed by staining for lysosomal membrane protein, LAMP-1 as well as accumulation of primary storage material heparan sulphate and secondary storage material GM2 ganglioside in the lysosomes. MPS IIIC and WT

hippocampal neurons were stained with antibodies against synaptophysin and another pre-synaptic protein, synapsin, also a member of the v-SNARE complex. Dendrites were stained with antibodies against MAP2 and ß-III tubulin. A significant reduction in both synapsin and synaptophysin was observed in MPS IIIC neurons as compared to the WT neurons, suggesting that both post-synaptic defects and pre-synaptic defects were present in the MPS IIIC neurons in culture potentially compromising the whole synaptic network.

In order for synaptic connections to maintain integrity as well as specificity, the neurons must constantly fire signals between one another. This synaptic transmission between neurons strengthens the synaptic network and also heavily regulates synaptic spine dynamics (synaptic plasticity). Therefore it is tempting to speculate that a reduction in the amount of synaptic vesicles docking to the pre-synaptic membrane in MPS IIIC neurones potentially causing a reduction in the amount of neurotransmitter release and therefore synaptic transmission, could eventually lead to changes in formation of post-synaptic spines (Figure 2). On the other hand post-synaptic defects could be independent event related to observed alterations of neuroligin-1 trafficking towards the dendrite. This latter hypothesis is supported by the previous work showing that neuroligin trafficking is crucial for recruitment of neurotransmitter receptors to the membrane and formation of the spines (Budreck, Kwon et al. 2013, Giannone, Mondin et al. 2013).

Upon documenting the presence of synaptic defects in MPS IIIC neurons, we concentrated on studies pertaining to the mechanism and origin of these defects. We have considered two possible mechanisms underlying synaptic defects in MPS IIIC neurons. The first mechanism suggests that defects originate in the neuron itself, and are not caused by their interactions with other type of brain cells. In this case the reduction of synaptic vesicle proteins could be caused either by a reduction in the rate of synaptic vesicles biogenesis or by a defect in the recycling of synaptic vesicles after they have released neurotransmitters. The biogenesis and recycling of synaptic vesicles are crucial components of the endocytic cycle, which involves input from the Golgi apparatus, early, late and recycling endosomes, as well as lysosomes. Synaptic vesicles are created in the cell body, and the Golgi apparatus plays an important role in the initial assembling of synaptic vesicle proteins and lipids into the final synaptic vesicle (Alberts et al 2002). However, considering the distance and time a synaptic vesicle takes to travel to the pre-synaptic terminal (up to 1 m away from the cell body in certain types of human neurons) (Alberts et al 2002), in order to maintain efficient synaptic transmission levels, once synaptic vesicles release their neurotransmitters into the synaptic cleft, they are recycled locally by early endosomes which repackage the synaptic vesicle proteins into the vesicle. This occurs much faster then the do-novo production of the synaptic vesicles. Synaptic vesicle proteins are therefore constantly in flux between these organelles in the neurons, being transferred to the lysosome for final degradation. Thus, if there is a defect or accumulation at any one of the participating organelles in the endocytic pathway, this could cause an obstacle for the correct formation of synaptic vesicles, leading to the reduction of their number described above. In order to test this hypothesis, cultured MPS IIIC and WT hippocampal neurons were stained with antibodies against a Golgi tethering protein giantin essential for maintaining Golgi structure as well as against the early endosomal antigen 1 (EEA1). We found no significant difference in Golgi structure or giantin localization between WT and MPS IIIC cells. This result comes in contrast to what was discovered by Vitry et.al, who showed alterations in Golgi complex protein localization in MPS IIIB neurons compared to WT neurons, where Golgi proteins such as GM-130 are being stored in storage vesicles, causing irregular Golgi structure (Vitry, Bruyere et al. 2010). Further studies are necessary to understand the nature of the discrepancy between our results and those of Vitry *et al.*, but it is possible that they van be related to the nature of the biochemical defects occurring in MPS IIIC mice and MPS IIIA mice studied by Vitry et al.

In contrast to Golgi structure, which was not affected by lysosomal storage, we observed-substantial differences in the EEA1 localization pattern between the MPS IIIC and WT neurons. In the MPS IIIC neurons, EEA1 accumulated both in the soma and in the spheroidal structures in the dendrite, whereas in the WT neurons it was found in cytoplasmic punctate exclusively in the soma. Early endosomes frequently merge with lysosomes in order to transfer any endocytosed material, which needs to be degraded.

Since the lysosomes are known to be defective and accumulate in MPS IIIC, this may cause a build up of endosomes along the dendrite. Such a mechanism is well described for impaired autophagy observed in the cells with LSD (Settembre, Fraldi et al. 2008) and is caused by storage-related changes in the composition of lysosomal membrane impairing SNARE complexes involved in lysosome-autophagosome fusion and a blocking of the autophagic flux (Sarkar, Carroll et al. 2013). As a consequence, autophagy substrates, such as polyubiquitinated and aggregated proteins, p62/SQSTM1, and dysfunctional mitochondria, are accumulated causing general defects of cellular homeostasis. Such phenomena are especially pertinent for neurons, which rely on autophagy for survival. It has been reported that spheroidal accumulations observed in neuronal dendrites and axons mainly contain autophagosomes (Vitry, Bruyere et al. 2010). We speculate that they also contain endosomes accumulating storage materials and that this would prevent synaptic vesicle recycling, leading to the decrease in synaptic vesicle levels as shown on Figure 5. Altogether our data suggest that the synaptic defects begins at the endosomal level, leading to decreased synaptic vesicle recycling, decreased synaptic vesicle docking, and consequently reduced synaptic transmission.

The second mechanism through which the synaptic defects could potentially occur involves the interaction between neurons and microglia, which have important regulatory function during synaptogenesis. As previously stated, microglia have the

ability to refine synaptic connections in the process called synaptic pruning, where interneuronal connections are regulated in order to meet the ideal standards for synaptic transmission (Paolicelli, Bolasco et al. 2011). Activated microglia can either interact with neurons directly eliminating unwanted synaptic spines via phagocytosis or through the secretion of the inflammatory cytokine TNF- α , which can also regulate synapse dynamics. In contrast, too high level of TNF- α or microglia-neuronal contacts was shown to lead to an excess of synaptic and physical defects in the neurons. In order to test whether microglia could cause synaptic defects in the MPS IIIC cultured hippocampal neurons, a TNF-a ELISA kit was used to analyze the levels of TNF-a present in the culture medium. We found however no significant difference between the levels of TNF- α in MPS IIIC neuronal cultures and the WT neuronal cultures. The amounts of TNF- α in both cultures were below the detection level, suggesting that the secretion of toxic levels of TNF- α from activated microglia, a phenomenon observed in postnatal brain sections of MPS IIIC mice, is not a contributing factor to the synaptic defects observed in MPS IIIC hippocampal cultures. Moreover immunohistochemistry revealed that microglia were not present in the neuronal cultures from WT or MPS IIIC mice, although astrocytes, which also have the ability to secrete TNF- α , were found in both cultures (data not shown). Cumulatively, the data rule out effects caused by microglia and favours the mechanism involving accumulation of storage endosomes as a leading factor in synaptic defects in MPS IIIC neurons.
Finally, if this data are extrapolated to other lysosomal storage diseases, it could provide insight into a general mechanism for cognitive and mental decline in all patients with neurological forms of LSDs. This would have important consequences due to the fact that a common therapeutic approach could potentially be used to alleviate the mental symptoms manifested in all LSDs. We initiated such study and analyzed synaptic spines in a mouse model of Tay-Sachs disease that expressed GFP in hippocampal neurons (HEXA KO – Thy1-EGFP). Spine density reduction of ~50% observed in brain sections from 3-month-old HEXA KO mice compared to the WT mice was similar to that observed in the MPS IIIC neurons. Also, similar dendritic structure defects were found in HEXA KO mice. These data suggest that synaptic spine density reduction of pre-synaptic vesicles in HEXA mice, as well as analyses in other LSDs.

In summary, our study has revealed malfunctions in the synaptic system, both pre-synaptic and post-synaptic, in MPS IIIC mouse hippocampal neurons, as well as a potential cellular mechanism underlying these defects. The synaptic defects preclude severe cognitive and mental symptoms observed in MPS IIIC mice later in life. They also may be present in human MPS IIIC children hippocampal neurons and can be responsible for the various behavioural manifestations occurring in the patients. For example, Rumsey *et al.* discovered autism spectrum disorder-like behaviour in children aged 3-4 with early-onset MPS III such as social inactivity and lack of eye contact and

60

facial expressions (Rumsey, Rudser et al. 2014). Mutations that cause misfolding and mislocalization of neuroligin and ß-neurexin can lead to cognitive diseases such as autism (Sudhof 2008) due to the function of these two proteins in synaptic transmission. Autism is a genetic neurodevelopmental disorder caused by reduced brain activity, and several studies showed this to be related to synaptic dysfunction (Levy, Mandell et al. 2009). Since neuroligin-1 has abnormal localization in MPS IIIC cells, its necessary connection with ß-neurexin may not being formed, causing reductions in synaptic activity and brain function. Effective methods were described for alleviating these symptoms (de Ruijter, Valstar et al. 2011, Meijer, van Vlies et al. 2013), mostly involving pharmaceuticals affecting synaptic transmission such as therapeutic doses of amphetamines, which increase neurotransmission via increases in dopamine. Otherwise, some monoamine-based antidepressants can increase synaptic transmission by increasing AMPA receptor levels (Popoli, Diamond et al. 2014). These therapies can potentially be used as a platform for drug development to reverse the behavioural symptoms and to improve cognitive function in MPS IIIC patients.

Conclusions

1) We have revealed post-synaptic defects in the hippocampal neurons of MPS IIIC mice at the synaptic spine level as early as at 20 postnatal days. The severity of the defects in synaptic spine density progresses with age.

2) We have identified decreases in the levels of pre-synaptic proteins VAMP2, synaptophysin, and synapsin in the hippocampal neurons of MPS IIIC mice, both in culture and in brain sections, suggesting existence of pre-synaptic defects at the synaptic vesicle level.

3) We speculate that post and presynaptic defects originate when early endosomes are accumulated while attempting to fuse with lysosomes containing storage materials. This leads to a decrease in synaptic vesicle recycling and therefore synaptic transmission, leading to cognitive and mental decline.

4) Microglia and the secreted cytokine TNF-α do not play a role in the compromise of the synaptic system in MPS IIIC mice.

5) The synaptic defects found in MPS IIIC mice are similar to those in the mouse model of Tay-Sachs disease and can be also present in other LSDs.

62

Chapter 5

References

Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, et al. (2002). Molecular Biology of the Cell. 4th edition. New York: Garland Science. Transport from the Trans Golgi Network to the Cell Exterior: Exocytosis.

Ausseil, J., N. Desmaris, S. Bigou, R. Attali, S. Corbineau, S. Vitry, M. Parent, D. Cheillan, M. Fuller, I. Maire, M. T. Vanier and J. M. Heard (2008). "Early neurodegeneration progresses independently of microglial activation by heparan sulfate in the brain of mucopolysaccharidosis IIIB mice." <u>PLoS One</u> **3**(5): e2296.

Barker, A. J., S. M. Koch, J. Reed, B. A. Barres and E. M. Ullian (2008). "Developmental control of synaptic receptivity." <u>J Neurosci</u> **28**(33): 8150-8160.

Bartsocas, C., H. Grobe, J. J. van de Kamp, K. von Figura, H. Kresse, U. Klein and M. A. Giesberts (1979). "Sanfilippo type C disease: clinical findings in four patients with a new variant of mucopolysaccharidosis III." <u>Eur J Pediatr</u> **130**(4): 251-258.

Bellettato, C. M. and M. Scarpa (2010). "Pathophysiology of neuropathic lysosomal storage disorders." <u>J Inherit Metab Dis</u> **33**(4): 347-362.

Bifsha, P., K. Landry, L. Ashmarina, S. Durand, V. Seyrantepe, S. Trudel, C. Quiniou, S. Chemtob, Y. Xu, R. A.

Gravel, R. Sladek and A. V. Pshezhetsky (2007). "Altered gene expression in cells from patients with lysosomal storage disorders suggests impairment of the ubiquitin pathway." <u>Cell Death Differ</u> **14**(3): 511-523.

Blumstein, J., V. Faundez, F. Nakatsu, T. Saito, H. Ohno and R. B. Kelly (2001). "The neuronal form of adaptor protein-3 is required for synaptic vesicle formation from endosomes." <u>J Neurosci</u> **21**(20): 8034-8042.

Bonifacino, J. S. and L. M. Traub (2003). "Signals for sorting of transmembrane proteins to endosomes and lysosomes." <u>Annu Rev Biochem</u> **72**: 395-447.

Brunson, K. L., E. Kramar, B. Lin, Y. Chen, L. L. Colgin, T. K. Yanagihara, G. Lynch and T. Z. Baram (2005). "Mechanisms of late-onset cognitive decline after early-life stress." <u>J Neurosci</u> **25**(41): 9328-9338.

Budreck, E. C., O. B. Kwon, J. H. Jung, S. Baudouin, A. Thommen, H. S. Kim, Y. Fukazawa, H. Harada, K. Tabuchi, R. Shigemoto, P. Scheiffele and J. H. Kim (2013). "Neuroligin-1 controls synaptic abundance of NMDA-type glutamate receptors through extracellular coupling." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **110**(2): 725-730.

De Braekeleer, M., P. Hechtman, E. Andermann and F. Kaplan (1992). "The French Canadian Tay-Sachs disease deletion mutation: identification of probable founders." <u>Hum Genet</u> **89**(1): 83-87.

de Ruijter, J., M. J. Valstar and F. A. Wijburg (2011). "Mucopolysaccharidosis type III (Sanfilippo Syndrome): emerging treatment strategies." <u>Curr Pharm Biotechnol</u> **12**(6): 923-930.

Dean, C. and T. Dresbach (2006). "Neuroligins and neurexins: linking cell adhesion, synapse formation and cognitive function." <u>Trends in Neurosciences</u> **29**(1): 21-29.

Engert, F. and T. Bonhoeffer (1999). "Dendritic spine changes associated with hippocampal long-term synaptic plasticity." <u>Nature</u> **399**(6731): 66-70.

Fan, X., H. Zhang, S. Zhang, R. D. Bagshaw, M. B. Tropak, J. W. Callahan and D. J. Mahuran (2006). "Identification of the gene encoding the enzyme deficient in mucopolysaccharidosis IIIC (Sanfilippo disease type C)." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> **79**(4): 738-744.

Fedele, A. O. and J. J. Hopwood (2010). "Functional analysis of the HGSNAT gene in patients with mucopolysaccharidosis IIIC (Sanfilippo C Syndrome)." <u>Hum Mutat</u> **31**(7): E1574-1586.

Feldhammer, M., S. Durand and A. V. Pshezhetsky (2009). "Protein misfolding as an underlying molecular defect in mucopolysaccharidosis III type C." <u>PLoS One</u> **4**(10): e7434.

Feng, G., R. H. Mellor, M. Bernstein, C. Keller-Peck, Q. T. Nguyen, M. Wallace, J. M. Nerbonne, J. W. Lichtman and J. R. Sanes (2000). "Imaging neuronal subsets in transgenic mice expressing multiple spectral variants of GFP." <u>Neuron</u> **28**(1): 41-51.

Freeman, C. and J. Hopwood (1992). "Lysosomal degradation of heparin and heparan sulphate." <u>Adv Exp Med Biol</u> **313**: 121-134.

Giannone, G., M. Mondin, D. Grillo-Bosch, B. Tessier, E. Saint-Michel, K. Czondor, M. Sainlos, D. Choquet and O. Thoumine (2013). "Neurexin-1beta binding to neuroligin-1 triggers the preferential recruitment of PSD-95 versus gephyrin through tyrosine phosphorylation of neuroligin-1." <u>Cell Rep</u> **3**(6): 1996-2007.

Gilkes, J. A. and C. D. Heldermon (2014). "Mucopolysaccharidosis III (Sanfilippo Syndrome)- disease presentation and experimental therapies." <u>Pediatr Endocrinol Rev</u> **12 Suppl 1**: 133-140.

Grabowski, G. A. and R. J. Hopkin (2003). "Enzyme therapy for lysosomal storage disease: principles, practice, and prospects." <u>Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet</u> **4**: 403-436.

Grabrucker, A., B. Vaida, J. Bockmann and T. M. Boeckers (2009). "Synaptogenesis of hippocampal neurons in primary cell culture." <u>Cell Tissue Res</u> **338**(3): 333-341.

Hannah, M. J., A. A. Schmidt and W. B. Huttner (1999). "Synaptic vesicle biogenesis." <u>Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol</u> **15**: 733-798.

Hansen, G. M., D. C. Markesich, M. B. Burnett, Q. Zhu, K. M. Dionne, L. J. Richter, R. H. Finnell, A. T. Sands, B. P. Zambrowicz and A. Abuin (2008). "Large-scale gene trapping in C57BL/6N mouse embryonic stem cells." <u>Genome Res</u> **18**(10): 1670-1679.

Harris, K. M., F. E. Jensen and B. Tsao (1992). "Three-dimensional structure of dendritic spines and synapses in rat hippocampus (CA1) at postnatal day 15 and adult ages: implications for the maturation of synaptic physiology and long-term potentiation." <u>J Neurosci</u> **12**(7): 2685-2705.

Hers, H. G. (1972). "The role of lysosomes in the pathogeny of storage diseases." <u>Biochimie</u> **54**(5): 753-757.

Hoopmann, P., A. Punge, S. V. Barysch, V. Westphal, J. Bückers, F. Opazo, I. Bethani, M. A. Lauterbach, S. W. Hell and S. O. Rizzoli (2010). "Endosomal sorting of readily releasable synaptic vesicles." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</u> **107**(44): 19055-19060.

Hrebicek, M., L. Mrazova, V. Seyrantepe, S. Durand, N. M. Roslin, L. Noskova, H. Hartmannova, R. Ivanek, A. Cizkova, H. Poupetova, J. Sikora, J. Urinovska, V. Stranecky, J. Zeman, P. Lepage, D. Roquis, A. Verner, J. Ausseil, C. E. Beesley, I. Maire, B. J. Poorthuis, J. van de Kamp, O. P. van Diggelen, R. A. Wevers, T. J. Hudson, T. M. Fujiwara, J. Majewski, K. Morgan, S. Kmoch and A. V. Pshezhetsky (2006). "Mutations in TMEM76* cause mucopolysaccharidosis IIIC (Sanfilippo C syndrome)." Am J Hum Genet **79**(5): 807-819.

Igdoura, S. A., C. Mertineit, J. M. Trasler and R. A. Gravel (1999). "Sialidase-Mediated Depletion of GM2 Ganglioside in Tay-Sachs Neuroglia Cells." <u>Human Molecular</u> <u>Genetics</u> **8**(6): 1111-1116.

JAX mice and Services. http://jaxmice.jax.org/strain/007788.html (Accessed September 1 2014)

Jeyakumar, M., R. A. Dwek, T. D. Butters and F. M. Platt (2005). "Storage solutions: treating lysosomal disorders of the brain." <u>Nat Rev Neurosci</u> **6**(9): 713-725.

Jeyakumar, M., R. Thomas, E. Elliot-Smith, D. A. Smith, A. C. van der Spoel, A. d'Azzo, V. Hugh Perry, T. D. Butters, R. A. Dwek and F. M. Platt (2003). "Central nervous system inflammation is a hallmark of pathogenesis in mouse models of GM1 and GM2 gangliosidosis." <u>Brain</u> **126**(4): 974-987.

Kaback, M. M. (2000). "Population-based genetic screening for reproductive counseling: the Tay-Sachs disease model." <u>Eur J Pediatr</u> **159 Suppl 3**: S192-195.

Kacher, Y. and A. Futerman (2006). Neuronal Cell Death in Glycosphingolipidoses. <u>Sphingolipid Biology</u>. Y. Hirabayashi, Y. Igarashi and A. Merrill, Jr., Springer Japan: 285-293.

Kresse, K. Bartsocas C (1976). "Clinical and biochemical findings in a family of Sanfillipo disease", type C., Clin Genetics **10**.

Levy, S. E., D. S. Mandell and R. T. Schultz (2009). "Autism." <u>Lancet</u> **374**(9701): 1627-1638.

Matsuzaki, M., N. Honkura, G. C. R. Ellis-Davies and H. Kasai (2004). "Structural basis of long-term potentiation in single dendritic spines." <u>Nature</u> **429**(6993): 761-766.

Meijer, O. L. M., N. van Vlies and F. A. Wijburg (2013). "Treatment of mucopolysaccharidosis type III (Sanfilippo syndrome)." <u>Expert Opinion on Orphan</u> <u>Drugs</u> **1**(9): 717-730.

Meikle, P. J., J. J. Hopwood, A. E. Clague and W. F. Carey (1999). "Prevalence of lysosomal storage disorders." Jama **281**(3): 249-254.

Melia, T. J., T. Weber, J. A. McNew, L. E. Fisher, R. J. Johnston, F. Parlati, L. K. Mahal, T. H. Söllner and J. E. Rothman (2002). "Regulation of membrane fusion by the membrane-proximal coil of the t-SNARE during zippering of SNAREpins." <u>The Journal of Cell Biology</u> **158**(5): 929-940.

The Merck Manuals.

http://www.merckmanuals.com/professional/pediatrics/inherited_disorders_of_metab olism/lysosomal_storage_disorders.html (Accessed September 15 2014)

Miklyaeva, E. I., W. Dong, A. Bureau, R. Fattahie, Y. Xu, M. Su, G. H. Fick, J. Q. Huang, S. Igdoura, N. Hanai and R. A. Gravel (2004). "Late onset Tay-Sachs disease in mice with targeted disruption of the Hexa gene: behavioral changes and pathology of the central nervous system." <u>Brain Res</u> **1001**(1-2): 37-50.

Morris, G. P., I. A. Clark, R. Zinn and B. Vissel (2013). "Microglia: a new frontier for synaptic plasticity, learning and memory, and neurodegenerative disease research." <u>Neurobiol Learn Mem</u> **105**: 40-53.

Muenzer, J. (2011). "Overview of the mucopolysaccharidoses." <u>Rheumatology</u> **50**(suppl 5): v4-v12.

Murthy, V. N. and P. De Camilli (2003). "Cell biology of the presynaptic terminal." <u>Annu</u> <u>Rev Neurosci</u> **26**: 701-728.

Myerowitz, R. and F. C. Costigan (1988). "The major defect in Ashkenazi Jews with Tay-Sachs disease is an insertion in the gene for the alpha-chain of beta-hexosaminidase." J Biol Chem **263**(35): 18587-18589.

National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke.

http://www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/mucopolysaccharidoses/detail_mucopolysaccharidos es.htm#260903195 (Accessed October 5, 2014)

National MPS society. http://mpssociety.org/mps/mps-iii/ (2011). (Accessed September 1 2014)

Newell-Litwa, K., G. Salazar, Y. Smith and V. Faundez (2009). "Roles of BLOC-1 and adaptor protein-3 complexes in cargo sorting to synaptic vesicles." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **20**(5): 1441-1453.

Ohmi, K., D. S. Greenberg, K. S. Rajavel, S. Ryazantsev, H. H. Li and E. F. Neufeld (2003). "Activated microglia in cortex of mouse models of mucopolysaccharidoses I and IIIB." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **100**(4): 1902-1907.

Paolicelli, R. C., G. Bolasco, F. Pagani, L. Maggi, M. Scianni, P. Panzanelli, M. Giustetto, T. A. Ferreira, E. Guiducci, L. Dumas, D. Ragozzino and C. T. Gross (2011). "Synaptic Pruning by Microglia Is Necessary for Normal Brain Development." <u>Science</u> **333**(6048): 1456-1458.

Parkhurst, C. N., G. Yang, I. Ninan, J. N. Savas, J. R. Yates, 3rd, J. J. Lafaille, B. L. Hempstead, D. R. Littman and W. B. Gan (2013). "Microglia promote learning-dependent synapse formation through brain-derived neurotrophic factor." <u>Cell</u> **155**(7): 1596-1609.

Peters, C. and C. G. Steward (2003). "Hematopoietic cell transplantation for inherited metabolic diseases: an overview of outcomes and practice guidelines." <u>Bone Marrow</u> <u>Transplant</u> **31**(4): 229-239.

Pevsner, J., S.-C. Hsu, J. E. A. Braun, N. Calakos, A. E. Ting, M. K. Bennett and R. H. Scheller (1994). "Specificity and regulation of a synaptic vesicle docking complex." <u>Neuron</u> **13**(2): 353-361.

Pinto, L., T. Vieira, R. Giugliani and I. Schwartz (2010). "Expression of the disease on female carriers of X-linked lysosomal disorders: a brief review." <u>Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases</u> **5**(1): 14.

Pinto, R., C. Caseiro, M. Lemos, L. Lopes, A. Fontes, H. Ribeiro, E. Pinto, E. Silva, S. Rocha, A. Marcao, I. Ribeiro, L. Lacerda, G. Ribeiro, O. Amaral and M. C. Sa Miranda (2004). "Prevalence of lysosomal storage diseases in Portugal." <u>Eur J Hum Genet</u> **12**(2): 87-92.

Poorthuis, B. J., R. A. Wevers, W. J. Kleijer, J. E. Groener, J. G. de Jong, S. van Weely, K. E. Niezen-Koning and O. P. van Diggelen (1999). "The frequency of lysosomal storage diseases in The Netherlands." <u>Hum Genet</u> **105**(1-2): 151-156.

Popoli, M., D. Diamond and G. Sanacora (2014). Synaptic Stress and Pathogenesis of Neuropsychiatric Disorders, Springer.

Rivest, S. (2009). "Regulation of innate immune responses in the brain." <u>Nat Rev</u> <u>Immunol</u> **9**(6): 429-439.

Rosebush, P. I., G. M. MacQueen, J. T. Clarke, J. W. Callahan, P. M. Strasberg and M. F. Mazurek (1995). "Late-onset Tay-Sachs disease presenting as catatonic schizophrenia: diagnostic and treatment issues." <u>J Clin Psychiatry</u> **56**(8): 347-353.

Ruijter, G. J., M. J. Valstar, J. M. van de Kamp, R. M. van der Helm, S. Durand, O. P. van Diggelen, R. A. Wevers, B. J. Poorthuis, A. V. Pshezhetsky and F. A. Wijburg (2008). "Clinical and genetic spectrum of Sanfilippo type C (MPS IIIC) disease in The Netherlands." <u>Mol Genet Metab</u> **93**(2): 104-111.

Rumsey, R. K., K. Rudser, K. Delaney, M. Potegal, C. B. Whitley and E. Shapiro (2014). "Acquired autistic behaviors in children with mucopolysaccharidosis type IIIA." <u>J Pediatr</u> **164**(5): 1147-1151.e1141.

Ryan, T. A., H. Reuter, B. Wendland, F. E. Schweizer, R. W. Tsien and S. J. Smith (1993). "The kinetics of synaptic vesicle recycling measured at single presynaptic boutons." <u>Neuron</u> **11**(4): 713-724.

Saftig, P. and J. Klumperman (2009). "Lysosome biogenesis and lysosomal membrane proteins: trafficking meets function." <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **10**(9): 623-635.

Sarkar, S., B. Carroll, Y. Buganim, D. Maetzel, A. H. Ng, J. P. Cassady, M. A. Cohen, S. Chakraborty, H. Wang, E. Spooner, H. Ploegh, J. Gsponer, V. I. Korolchuk and R. Jaenisch (2013). "Impaired autophagy in the lipid-storage disorder Niemann-Pick type C1 disease." <u>Cell Rep</u> **5**(5): 1302-1315.

Settembre, C., A. Fraldi, L. Jahreiss, C. Spampanato, C. Venturi, D. Medina, R. de Pablo, C. Tacchetti, D. C. Rubinsztein and A. Ballabio (2008). "A block of autophagy in lysosomal storage disorders." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **17**(1): 119-129.

Söllner, T., M. K. Bennett, S. W. Whiteheart, R. H. Scheller and J. E. Rothman (1993). "A protein assembly-disassembly pathway in vitro that may correspond to sequential steps of synaptic vesicle docking, activation, and fusion." <u>Cell</u> **75**(3): 409-418.

Sprecher, E., A. Ishida-Yamamoto, M. Mizrahi-Koren, D. Rapaport, D. Goldsher, M. Indelman, O. Topaz, I. Chefetz, H. Keren, J. O'Brien T, D. Bercovich, S. Shalev, D. Geiger, R. Bergman, M. Horowitz and H. Mandel (2005). "A mutation in SNAP29, coding for a SNARE protein involved in intracellular trafficking, causes a novel neurocutaneous syndrome characterized by cerebral dysgenesis, neuropathy, ichthyosis, and palmoplantar keratoderma." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> **77**(2): 242-251.

Stanford, W. L., J. B. Cohn and S. P. Cordes (2001). "Gene-trap mutagenesis: past, present and beyond." <u>Nat Rev Genet</u> **2**(10): 756-768.

Staretz-Chacham, O., T. C. Lang, M. E. LaMarca, D. Krasnewich and E. Sidransky (2009). "Lysosomal Storage Disorders in the Newborn." <u>Pediatrics</u> **123**(4): 1191-1207.

Stellwagen, D. and R. C. Malenka (2006). "Synaptic scaling mediated by glial TNFalpha." <u>Nature **440**</u>(7087): 1054-1059.

Sudhof, T. C. (2008). "Neuroligins and neurexins link synaptic function to cognitive disease." <u>Nature</u> **455**(7215): 903-911.

Tegay, D. GM2 Gangliosidoses - Introduction And Epidemiology at Medscape. Updated: Mar 9, 2012

Toni, N., P. A. Buchs, I. Nikonenko, C. R. Bron and D. Muller (1999). "LTP promotes formation of multiple spine synapses between a single axon terminal and a dendrite." <u>Nature</u> **402**(6760): 421-425.

Trommald, M., V. Jensen and P. Andersen (1995). "Analysis of dendritic spines in rat CA1 pyramidal cells intracellularly filled with a fluorescent dye." <u>J Comp Neurol</u> **353**(2): 260-274.

Uytterhoeven, V., S. Kuenen, J. Kasprowicz, K. Miskiewicz and P. Verstreken (2011). "Loss of skywalker reveals synaptic endosomes as sorting stations for synaptic vesicle proteins." <u>Cell</u> **145**(1): 117-132. van de Kamp, J. J., M. F. Niermeijer, K. von Figura and M. A. Giesberts (1981). "Genetic heterogeneity and clinical variability in the Sanfilippo syndrome (types A, B, and C)." <u>Clin Genet</u> **20**(2): 152-160.

Vitry, S., J. Ausseil, M. Hocquemiller, S. Bigou, R. Dos Santos Coura and J. M. Heard (2009). "Enhanced degradation of synaptophysin by the proteasome in mucopolysaccharidosis type IIIB." <u>Mol Cell Neurosci</u> **41**(1): 8-18.

Vitry, S., J. Bruyere, M. Hocquemiller, S. Bigou, J. Ausseil, M. A. Colle, M. C. Prevost and J. M. Heard (2010). "Storage vesicles in neurons are related to Golgi complex alterations in mucopolysaccharidosis IIIB." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **177**(6): 2984-2999.

Walkley, S. U. (1998). "Cellular pathology of lysosomal storage disorders." <u>Brain Pathol</u> **8**(1): 175-193.

Wilkinson, F. L., R. J. Holley, K. J. Langford-Smith, S. Badrinath, A. Liao, A. Langford-Smith, J. D. Cooper, S. A. Jones, J. E. Wraith, R. F. Wynn, C. L. Merry and B. W. Bigger (2012). "Neuropathology in mouse models of mucopolysaccharidosis type I, IIIA and IIIB." <u>PLoS One</u> **7**(4): e35787.

Winchester, B., A. Vellodi and E. Young (2000). "The molecular basis of lysosomal storage diseases and their treatment." <u>Biochem Soc Trans</u> **28**(2): 150-154.

Winchester. B (2004). Primary defects in lysosomal enzymes in lysosomal disorders of the Brain. F.M. Platt, S.U. Walkley, editors. Oxford University Press, Oxford. 81–130.

Yamanaka, S., M. D. Johnson, A. Grinberg, H. Westphal, J. N. Crawley, M. Taniike, K. Suzuki and R. L. Proia (1994). "Targeted disruption of the Hexa gene results in mice with biochemical and pathologic features of Tay-Sachs disease." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America</u> **91**(21): 9975-9979.

Zhong, W. (2011). "Golgi during Development." <u>Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in</u> <u>Biology</u> **3**(9): a005363.